### THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

# Providers of Support to Survivors of Torture and

Their Coping with Vicarious Trauma

By

Shahin Oudji

#### **A THESIS**

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCES

#### DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

CALGARY, ALBERTA SEPTEMBER 1999

© Shahin Oudji 1999



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file. Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-48032-1



#### **ABSTRACT**

As part of a larger research project, the present study deals with vicarious trauma (VT) and coping among therapists treating refugees who are survivors of torture. In a qualitative-phenomenological research design, a semi-structured interview format was used to investigate the experiences of VT and the methods of coping by a group of 10 therapists (2 males and 8 females). The findings indicate that empathizing with the traumatic experiences of survivors may have contributed to the experience of VT among the therapists. It is also revealed that, VT tends to affect therapists on multiple levels including, emotional, cognitive, spiritual, behavioral and physiological domains. Therapists used a variety of problem- and emotion-focused coping strategies to deal with the impacts of VT. The results suggest a number of areas for future research in VT and the need for cross-cultural training to deal with the emerging psychological difficulties of survivors of torture.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to acknowledge the tremendous support of many individuals throughout the research process and writing of this thesis. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Nancy Arthur for her support and mentorship along the way. Dr. Arthur, your resourcefulness, wise critic, humor, flexibility, generosity, guidance, kindness, compassion and enthusiasm gently guided me to my true potentials. You have taught me much about what it means to be a dedicated professional and an inspiring mentor.

I am thankful to my committee members who read this thesis and provided insightful comments and recommendations that have been integrated in the final version of the study.

I would like to thank Prairie Center of Excellence for Research on Immigration and Integration whose funding supported this research project.

I am thankful to The Calgary Catholic Immigration Society for their support throughout the research program. Their creative and compassionate efforts for a stronger and more hopeful community have made such a research project possible.

I am also deeply indebted to professionals I interviewed for sharing their inner experiences by responding with great enthusiasm and thoughtfulness. This study could not have been meaningful without their genuine and insightful narratives. I was indeed privileged to listen to their personal experiences, learn from, and share them with other curious minds through this thesis.

Important personal contributions were also made by the support staff in Educational Psychology Department whose good humor, advice and flexibility have assisted me throughout the study.

I'd like to thank my parents whose love and genuine passion for life and knowledge have been a constant source of inspiration and hope in my life. Thank you mom for your wisdom, strength and love. Many thanks to my husband for his patience, his belief in me, and his constant availability for listening to my ideas, guiding and editing on command! Thank you for cooking meals and taking care of me.

# DEDICATION

Dedicated to my mother Sedigheh Oudji (Afunian) and my father Abdulkhalegh Oudji whose love and respect for life, education, and human equality has been my inspiration.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Approval Pageii
Abstractiii
Acknowledgement
Dedicationv
Table of Contents vi
List of Tablesxi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION
Refugee Trauma
Counselling Traumatized Refugees
Rationale for Study 4
Organization of the Thesis
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW
Transactional View of Stress and Coping
Factors Influencing Appraisal of Stressors8
Summary10
Coping with Stress10
Functions and Methods of Coping
Problem-Focused Coping
Emotion-Focused Coping12
Effectiveness of Coping Strategies15
Summary16
Occupational Stress Among Therapists
Burnout
Summary18
Vicarious Trauma19
Constructivist Self-Development Theory
Summary
Contributing Factors to Vicarious Trauma23
Empathy in the Therapeutic Relationship23
Therapeutic Relationship: Countertransference24

Summary	26
Therapists and Coping with Vicarious Trauma	27
Personal Coping Strategies	28
Professional Coping Strategies	29
Organizational Coping Strategies	29
Summary	30
The Effectiveness of Coping Strategies	30
Summary	31
The Current Study	31
Summary and Conclusion	32
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	35
Research Design: A Qualitative-Phenomenological Method	35
Role of the Researcher and the Participants	36
Summary	36
Participants of the Study	36
Procedures for Selecting Participants	38
Interviewing Procedure.	40
Analysis of the Data: Interview Analysis	42
Coding by Topic	43
Horizontalization of Data	44
Credibility of the Study	45
Summary	46
CHAPTER FOUR: PRESENTATION OF FINDINGS	48
Motivating Factors for Working with Survivors of Torture	51
Professional Responsibility: Helping as a Therapist	51
Social and Human Responsibility	53
Ethical-Moral Responsibility	55
Personal and Professional Enrichment	56
Impact of Working with Survivors of Torture	58
Preliminary Effects	58
Impact on the professional level.	59

Impact on the cognitive level	02
Impact on the emotional level	64
Impact on the spiritual and religious level	66
Symptoms of Secondary Traumatic Stress	68
Cognitive Symptoms	69
Flashback of images	69
Diminished concentration	70
Self-doubt	70
Whirling thoughts	70
Confusion	70
Emotional Symptoms	71
Feeling shocked.	71
Anger and rage	71
Feelings of powerlessness, anxiety, sadness and depression	72
Guilt. shame, and hopelessness	73
Behavioural Symptoms	73
Nightmares	74
Impatience	74
Exhaustion	74
Physical Symptoms	74
Stomach pains, headache and rapid heart-beat	75
Spiritual Impacts	75
Questioning the meaning of life and anger at God	75
Personal and Professional Coping Strategies.	76
Problem-Focused Coping Strategies	76
Establishing boundaries.	76
Seeking instrumental support	78
Using proactive strategies	79
Emotion-Focused Coping Strategies	80
Self-care and self-nurturing behaviours	80
Seeking support for emotional reasons	82

	Turning to religion and spiritual activities for support	84
	Focus on emotions and venting of emotions	86
	Emotional distancing	87
	Acceptance	87
	Positive reinterpretation	88
	Mental disengagement	88
	Behavioural disengagement	88
Summ	ary and Conclusion	89
CHAPTER	FIVE: DISCUSSION	90
Motiva	ating Factors for Working with Survivors of Torture	91
Rewar	ding Aspects of Trauma Work	92
The Is	sue of Countertransference in Vicarious Trauma	93
Impac	t of Working with Survivors of Torture	94
I	mpact at the Professional Level	94
I	mpact at the Personal Level	96
	Cognitive Impact	97
	Spiritual-religious impact	98
Person	al and Professional Coping Strategies	99
P	Problem-Focused Coping Strategies	100
	Establishing boundaries	100
	Seeking instrumental support	101
	Using proactive strategies	101
E	Emotion-Focused Coping Strategies	102
	Self-care and self-nurturing behavior	102
	Seeking emotional support	103
	Focus on emotions and venting of emotions	103
	Emotional distancing	104
	Religious and spiritual activities	104
	Acceptance	105
	Positive reinterpretation	105
Coping	g at the Organizational Level	
Limita	tions of the Study	107

Directions for Future Research	10
General Conclusion.	110
REFERENCES	112
APPENDICES	12
APPENDIX A: General Invitation Letter	127
APPENDIX B: Interview Protocol	128
APPENDIX C: Consent for Participation in the Research Study	129
APPENDIX D: Demographic Information Sheet	130

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Demographic Characteristics of the Participants	39
Table 2.	Themes and Sub-themes Emerging from Participants' Transcripts	49

#### CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Those of us who enjoy peace and freedom, without having had to suffer for them, have the moral duty to ensure that the persecuted, the wounded, and the tortured, receive care, gratitude, and the possibility of recovering their human potential My friends, you are fulfilling a commendable mission. It is inspired by love for humanity. (Dr. Oscar Arias, 1991, cited in Jaranson, 1995, p. 256)

# Refugee Trauma

During the last fifty years, there have been massive movements of immigrants and refugees throughout the world. Human-created disasters such as war, organized violence and torture have forced many people to leave their homelands and resettle in other countries. Refugees share with other immigrants the stresses of resettlement including adjustment to foreign customs and language, the experience of culture shock, and the clash between their norms and values, and those of the host culture (Williams & Berry, 1991). However, they also may have experienced unique stressors due to prolonged wars, persecutions, and dangerous escape from their own country. Unlike immigrants who chose to leave their country, refugees have had to flee their homeland forcibly because of traumatic and life-threatening experiences such as torture (Jaranson, 1995).

Systematic torture and organized violence have been reported in more than 60 countries around the world (Chester & Jaranson, 1994). It is estimated that 5-35% of the world's !4 million refugee population have been exposed to torture at least once (Basoglu, 1992). Canada has been welcoming refugees from various parts of the world. Earlier in 1977, a Canadian Center for Victims of Torture was organized in Toronto for the assessment and treatment of tortured refugees. In Calgary, Canada where the present research project was carried out, an estimated number of 3000 refugees traumatized by

torture were reported since 1991 (Calgary Catholic Immigration Society, personal communication, 1999). The World Medical Association has defined torture as,

The deliberate, systematic or wanton infliction of physical or mental suffering by one or more persons acting alone or on the orders of any authority, to force another person to yield information, to make a confession, or for any other reason.

(Amnesty International, 1985)

Survivors of torture are left with pervasive and devastating physiological, psychological, social, spiritual and emotional effects. For most of us, the horror of torture is unimaginable, yet for the refugees who are survivors of torture it is a cruel reality. Certain aspects of torture are believed to be responsible for the complex psychological impairment it may have on its survivors. First, torture is not accidental injury resulting from a natural disaster. Second, torture is usually a deliberate infliction of pain by one human being upon another, with the primary goal of the humiliation and breakdown of the person at the psychological, emotional, spiritual, political and behavioral levels (Jaranson, 1995). The immediate impact of torture may be severe and painful bodily injuries, social and economical disturbances, a sense of terror, helplessness, vulnerability, loss of control and uncertainty. The long-term impact may include responses involving negative changes in affect, cognition, behavior and general well-being of the individual. These responses may appear from months to years after the events resulting in a syndrome known as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 1994; Figley, 1995; Meichenbaum, 1994). Refugees who are survivors of torture may also question their world-view about themselves and others in relation to trust, safety, security, human goodness, a just world and religion (McCann & Pearlman, 1990).

### Counseling Traumatized Refugees

Given the unique stressful situation and experience of refugees before, during, and after fleeing from their homes, many of them arrive cut off from the resources and social support systems in their country of origin. They may require particular attention from a multidisciplinary team of caregivers who can aid them to manage and overcome the negative psychological, physiological, social and spiritual effects of their trauma (Bojholm & Vesti, 1992; Supply & Service Canada 1988; Vesti & Kastrup, 1994; Westermeyer, 1986, 1989). One of the primary interventions for refugees who are survivors of torture has been counseling and psychotherapy; however, there is a paucity of training and information made available through graduate programs in the fields of psychology and counseling. Although therapists may be familiar with the area of traumatology and have dealt with survivors of sexual and child abuse, random violence and natural disasters (e.g., earthquake and flood), the experience of clients who are survivors of torture presents a unique issue. Therapists have to be prepared to address both trauma effects and its symptoms, as well as understand the pre-trauma life and culture of the refugee clients (Arthur & Ramaliu, in press). Thus, dealing with survivors of trauma from other cultures may present an additional source of stress.

Attention has been given recently to the potentially stressful nature of working with trauma survivors and particularly the indirect effects of clients' experience on therapists. There is evidence that therapists who work with trauma survivors are at risk for becoming vicariously traumatized (Figley, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Stamm, 1995). Listening to torture survivors' painful stories certainly can create strong emotional responses by therapists. Stories of survivors of torture typically contain graphic accounts of stressful life experience that involves threat, injury, mutilation, humiliation, degradation, defilement, and destruction (Basoglu, 1992; Jaranson, 1995; Jaranson & Popkin, 1998). On the one hand, therapists may respond with a deep sense of empathy, and on the other hand they may respond with disbelief or cynicism regarding

the survivors stories. This general psychological reaction has been called vicarious traumatization "....a process through which the therapist's inner experience is negatively transformed through empathic engagement with client's trauma material (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995, p. 279).

#### Rationale for Study

Researchers and clinicians have been familiar with the concept of burnout, a type of occupational stress which gradually appears as a result of long term emotional involvement with clients (Maslach, 1982). However, job demands may be more serious and unique in their effects when therapists deal with clients who have been traumatized. Working with refugees who have been traumatized by torture poses a number of issues for professionals. First, they may be unprepared to deal with such a challenging population; and second, they may be unequipped to cope with the vicariously negative effects of their clients' traumatic experiences.

In the study of VT, much emphasis has been placed on its manifestations: however, it is imperative that we learn more about various ways of dealing with its negative impacts at personal, professional and organizational levels. Therefore, the goals of this study are to explore (a) the subjective experience of VTamong therapists working with a sub-group of traumatized refugees who are survivors of torture, and (b) the coping methods used to counteract the negative effects of these experiences. Because the nature of the present research was exploratory, a qualitative-phenomenological research design was selected in order to focus on therapists' subjective experiences of vicarious trauma and coping (Creswell, 1998).

It is hoped that through creating an awareness of our human responses to clients' traumatic experiences and expanding our repertoire of coping strategies we can enhance our own professional functioning as therapists as well as help the recovery process for the survivors.

#### Organization of the Thesis

Chapter two provides a literature review of the theoretical and conceptual framework for understanding stress and coping leading to the discussion of occupational stress among therapists. Particular emphasis is given to the concept of VT, its impact on personal and professional lives of therapists, and coping responses to manage VT. Chapter three describes the methodological framework of the study, which is based on a qualitative-phenomenological research design. The chapter also describes specific procedures used to collect, analyze and synthesize the data collected for this study. Chapter four reports the findings of the present study in the form of thematic description, supported by quotations from the participants' interviews. Finally, chapter five provides a discussion of the findings, limitations of the study and implications of the study for future research and counseling practice.

### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

The purpose of this chapter is to review theory and research related to the experience of VT by professional mental health practitioners, and their methods of coping. First, the concepts of stress and coping are examined to provide a basis for the ways in which we understand, prevent, and deal with occupational stress in counseling roles. Second, the chapter focuses on the experience of VT among therapists who deal with survivors of trauma. Third, the issues of empathy and countertransference are discussed in relationship to the therapists' sense of vulnerability to experience VT. Finally coping strategies used by therapists to deal with their experience of VT will be outlined.

# Transactional View of Stress and Coping

A variety of theories have been suggested in the study of stress. Some of these theories are the diathesis-stress, psychodynamic, learning, social stress, control and holistic theories (see Rice,1992). However, stress has generally been studied and defined in three different ways. Stress has been considered as (a) the response of the individual to demanding situations (response view), (b) the accumulation of the demands in the individual's environment (stimulus view), and (c) the interaction between factors within the individual and within the environment (transactional view of stress). Although the response and stimulus models focus on processes internal to individuals or events external to them respectively, the transactional model emphasizes a bi-directional interaction between the individual and the environment (Hiebert, 1988; Lazarus, 1991, 1993; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). This transactional conceptualization of stress has received the most attention in the current literature and research, and will be the major focus of this chapter.

Stress is viewed as a transaction between individuals and their environments, in which individuals appraise demands of the situation as well as their available resources for coping. If the perceived demands exceed resources perceived to be available for coping with them, the individual experiences psychological and physiological stress

responses (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Therefore, stress is not just a response or a stimulus as originally defined (Holmes & Rahe, 1967; Selye, 1976); it is a process of transaction that requires continuous appraisals by individuals during interactions with their environment (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Transactions involve an assessment process called cognitive appraisal (Cohen & Lazarus, 1983; Lazarus & Folkman 1984). The initial assessment of potential threat is termed primary appraisal, while the evaluation of available resources is called secondary appraisal. The process of primary appraisal concerns potential danger in the situation, whereas secondary appraisal considers the question of "what can I do about it?" During the secondary appraisal, people assess resources available to them and evaluate coping strategies to determine whether they are sufficient to meet the perceived demands.

The experience of stress often depends on the outcome of primary appraisal. When people perceive a balance between demands and resources, they may experience little or no stress; however, when their appraisal shows an imbalance and they believe that demands exceed resources, they may feel a great deal of stress (Hiebert, 1988; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Rice, 1992). Events that are appraised as stressful receive further appraisal involving three implications: harm-loss, threat, and challenge. Appraisal of harm-loss involves real or anticipated damage of something that has personal significance. Threat appraisal refers to the expectation of further harm. Challenging situations are viewed as opportunities to achieve growth and mastery. Stress appraisals tend to depend greatly on harm-loss and threat (Hobfoll, 1989). Hiebert (1988) pointed out that during the appraisal process, people first decide whether it is possible to make the demands less stressful, and then attempt to change the situations by reducing these demands, and/or enhance their coping skills to deal with them more adaptively. Appraisal continues as coping responses are tried; if the first ones do not work and the stress persists, new responses are initiated, and their effectiveness is evaluated (Lazarus,

1991). Conversely, if the coping strategies are effective in eliminating stress, individuals stop initiating new coping responses.

A major criticism of the transactional theory (Lazarus, 1991; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) is presented by Hobfoll (1989) who points out that the concepts of situational demand and coping capacity are not sufficiently defined. According to Hobfoll, the definition of these two concepts is circular; that is the extent to which an event is demanding depends on coping capacity while the adequacy of coping capacity is dependent on demand. Hobfoll suggests an alternative model based on the concept of conservation of resources. He states that people value and conserve many resources related to objects (home or business) condition (power or marriage) personal characteristics (self-esteem) and energies (time or money). When people experience loss of resources they attempt to replace their loss or reappraise. Hobfoll's theory seems to use similar cognitive concepts to those of Lazarus such as reappraisal. Moreover, the concept of loss by Hobfoll is also quite similar to the concept of harm proposed by Lazarus. The choice of the transactional theory in the present study is consistent with Rice's (1992) conclusion that "while it is important to keep in mind potential weaknesses in a theory, we cannot and should not quickly abandon a strong and well-research theory on the basis of speculation alone" (pp. 22-23).

In sum, the transactional view considers stress as a multidimensional process involving individual and environmental variables, as well as the mediating efforts of appraisal and coping. How the individual perceives and responds to different events is the critical factor in determining the experience of stress, not just the event itself.

Factors Influencing Appraisal of Stressors

Whether an event is appraised as stressful or not during the process of primary appraisal is influenced by factors that relate to both the individual and the situation (Costa, Somerfield & McCrae, 1996; Krohne, 1996; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Lepore & Evans, 1996). For example, research indicates that individuals who have a high sense of

self-esteem are more likely to perceive that they have the resources and are able to interpret the stressful event as challenging rather than threatening (Cohen & Lazarus, 1983; Hobfoll, Freedy, Green, & Solomon, 1996; Hobfoll & Leiberman, 1987). Another example involves individual's belief system: a person who has "irrational" (unhelpful) beliefs is also more likely to appraise most situations as threatening or harmful (Ellis, 1987, 1993). Considerable stress can also be brought about by conflicting motives (Rice, 1992) as well as internal processes such as unresolved conflicts that may be conscious or unconscious (Freud, 1933). Other factors such as gender, age, cultural values, socioeconomic status and previous experiences with stressful situation can also significantly influence our perception of stressful events (Arthur, 1998; Arthur & Hiebert, 1996). A key point to consider is that the degree to which any situation is appraised as stressful varies for each person.

Situational factors tend to involve three basic characteristics which contribute to perceived stressfulness of the events. These are controllability, predictability, and the extent to which some events challenge the limit of our capabilities and self-concept (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Rice, 1992). The more people perceive a situation as uncontrollable (the lack of ability to prevent or eliminate it), the more likely they perceive it as stressful. According to Lazarus & Folkman (1984), our perception of control is as important to our assessment of the stressfulness of the events as is the actual control of them. Animal and human research has demonstrated that the perceived or real control of stressors can significantly affect the appraisal of stress and the development of a sense of helplessness and hopelessness which may promote depression or other psychological difficulties (Brown & Siegel, 1988; Geer & Maisel, 1973; Levy & Heiden, 1991; Sanderson, Rapee, & Barlow, 1989; Seligman, 1975; Taylor & Aspinwall, 1996; Thompson, Sobolow-Shubin, Galbraith, Schwankovksy, & Cruzen, 1993; Wiedenfeld et al., 1990). When people can predict the occurrence of events in their lives, they can usually reduce the intensity of stress associated with them, even if the events can not be

controlled (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Rice, 1992). Predictability allows people to become engaged in some kind of activity that can help them to feel less anxious. Some events are basically controllable and predictable, but are still experienced as stressful because they challenge our beliefs and capabilities to cope with them. For instance, people may get involved enthusiastically and voluntarily in some events such as marriage or migration, but they still may feel stressed. Events that are perceived as positive and challenging may involve a number of significant changes and adjustments (Moos & Schaefer, 1986). Other factors such as novelty, ambiguity, imminence, and duration of the events can also influence the individual's appraisal of the situation.

Summary. Stressful situations create emotional and physiological responses that are highly uncomfortable. This in turn motivates us to take actions to reduce, eliminate or manage the discomfort. The process by which we attempt to manage stress is called coping. In the following section, throughout this discussion, functions and methods of coping with stress, as well as their effectiveness will be highlighted.

# Coping with Stress

Coping is defined as "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and/or internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 141). This definition implies that coping is not static but involves constant efforts to manage the situations perceived to be stressful. In addition, the individual's appraisal of the situation (i.e., challenging, threatening, or harmful) largely influences the coping response, which in turn may alter the initial appraisal. The process of appraisal allows us to account for individual differences in the response to the same event. For example, hearing graphic stories about traumatic events such as rape or torture may create stress for some people and yet merely present a fact of life for others. Coping is also influenced by individual differences such as gender, age, socioeconomic status, level of education and life experiences. When people appraise a situation as stressful, the effects of stress may vary

depending on how each individual copes and manages the event. The word manage in the definition of coping is emphasized because it indicates that coping efforts can be varied and do not necessarily lead to a solution of the perceived problem (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

### Functions and Methods of Coping

Coping is our goal directed efforts toward managing the perceived demands of the environment; therefore, it plays an important role in mediating the effects of stress. The negative impact of perceived stressors can be reduced when we have a large pool of coping resources and when we apply effective coping methods (Sutker, Davis, Uddo, & Ditta, 1995). The transactional model discussed earlier emphasizes that coping consists of all of the cognitive and behavioral efforts that people make to manage the demands of a situation. People have a variety of strategies for coping with stress. Researchers have organized commonly used strategies on the basis of their functions: (a) dealing with the problem itself (problem-focused coping) and changing the demands causing the stress or (b) regulating the emotional distress (emotion-focused) caused by the demands (Carver, Scheier & Weintaub, 1989; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Zeidner & Endler, 1996).

## **Problem-Focused Coping**

Problem-focused coping aims at managing the situation by changing the stressful event, or altering one's interaction with that event (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Such strategies can be directed at the situation or at the self in an attempt to solve, reconceptualize, or minimize the effects of a stressful situation such as taking actions that are directed at the problem. One example is problem solving activities. These efforts involve gathering information about the problem, planning alternative solutions, evaluating these solutions for their effectiveness, selecting and implementing an idea and finally re-evaluating its effectiveness after a period of time. Another example is seeking and obtaining social support for instrumental reasons. With instrumental support comes

feedback, advice and new approaches to stress, all of which make it easier to develop and use helpful plans that can minimize or manage the problem (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Emotion-Focused Coping

Emotion-focused coping involves individual's efforts to manage the emotional distress linked to situations perceived as stressful. Such strategies involve activities related to affect regulation. One method includes behavioral strategies that involve changing one's responses in ways that reduce the impact of stressors before, during or after the experience of stress. The most common behavioral coping strategies involve some form of physical or mental exercises as well as mood altering substances such as tobacco, alcohol and drugs. It is important to note that although at times these substances can be appropriate coping aids and reduce one's emotional arousal, if abused, they can become a stressor themselves and lead to adverse effects on health (Carey, Kalra, Carey, Halperin, & Richards, 1993; Carver et al., 1989; Moose, Finney, & Cronkite, 1990). Moreover, when people depend on alcohol or narcotics to help them face stressors, they may attribute success to the drug, instead of their own efforts and skills (Bandura, 1989). Such perceived loss of control over stressors as a result of drug use may in turn make those stressors even more threatening and disruptive. On the other hand, individuals with high levels of self-efficacy tend to perceive and approach demands as challenging situations and in an active and persistent manner (Bandura, 1989). Non-chemical methods of reducing stress such as physical exercises, progressive relaxation training, and meditation among others have been shown to be effective measures in controlling stress (Brown, 1991; Dubbert, 1992; Gelderloos, Walton, Orme-Johston, & Alexander, 1991).

Two other important emotion-focused strategies are emotional discharge and intrapsychic processes. An example of emotional discharge is talking about the problem and seeking emotional support. The perception that one has emotional support, and is cared for and valued by others, tends to be an effective buffer against the negative

effects of many stressors (Anderson, 1992; Taylor, 1995). With emotional support comes moral support, sympathy, or understanding from others. Another example of emotional discharge is writing about the problem. Pennebaker (1990) has found that writing about negative feelings may reduce people's stress and benefit their health since writing helps the individuals to organize and assimilate their own thoughts and feelings more carefully than talking.

People also use a variety of intrapsychic processes that may involve cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage their emotional reactions. One cognitive strategy is cognitive restructuring which aims at reappraising and reinterpreting the stressful demands and helps to generate more hopeful emotional state by thinking more constructively and positively (Ellis, 1993; Meichenbaum, 1994). This reframing process is particularly helpful in regulating emotional arousal. For example, a therapist listening to graphic and horrible stories of a traumatized client may become overwhelmed with the presenting information and experience feelings of anxiety, confusion, depression as well as frightening, catastrophic thoughts about the situation. He/she may ask "What if it happens to me or my loved ones?" Subsequently, the therapist may attempt to reduce and replace catastrophic thinking by reframing the meaning of the situation and replacing it with constructive thoughts such as "All I can do is the best I can" (Ellis, 1993). Although this strategy does not eliminate stressors, it can help perceive them as less threatening and thus make them less disruptive. Taylor (1983) suggests that people who have desires and skills for reframing a situation perceived to be stressful, can generally find a way to do so since there is almost always some aspect of one's life that can be viewed positively.

Other intrapsychic processes involving cognitive strategies are called defense mechanisms. Freud (1933) originally developed the concept of defense mechanism to refer to people's unconscious processes when dealing with their anxiety by avoiding (physically removing oneself from the presence of stress) or denying (mentally escaping

stressor by ignoring or trying to explain it) their experience of reality. These processes are emotion-focused and do not change the stressful situation; rather, they help to prevent people's negative emotions from overwhelming them. Examples of defense mechanisms are repression, projection, rationalization, denial, intellectualization, suppression and displacement. Most people use defense mechanisms on a fairly regular basis and they are considered normal coping patterns that help us until we are ready to deal more directly with the stressful situation. However, when they become the dominant mode of responding to difficulties, they can lead to personal maladjustment. Defensive coping is considered relatively maladaptive because it may involve self-deception and reality distortion (Bolger, 1990). Studies show that a little illusion is necessary for good mental health. Studies by Taylor (1989) also show that illusion may sometimes be adaptive for mental and physical well-being. She notes that in comparison to depressed subjects. normal subjects have overly favorable self-image and overestimate the degree to which they control chance events. However, according to Baumeister (1989) there is an "optimal margin of illusion". Extreme distortions of reality are unhelpful and non-adaptive, while small illusions are often helpful. Vaillant (1994) points out that some defense mechanisms such as humor and altruism can be more adaptive than others (e.g., denial) in helping people to cope with perceived stressful events.

When people perceive that the demands are not controllable and must be endured for the time being, emotion-focused coping becomes predominant. In contrast, problem-focused coping becomes predominate when people believe that they can do something about the situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Gender differences in coping styles have been debated. The premise that women tend to use emotion-focused coping more frequently, while men tend to use problem-focused has received mixed results in research (Ptacek, Smith, & Zanas, 1992). These results may be due, in part, to differential distribution of resources and/or women's lack of status within traditional roles in our society (Arthur, 1998).

In sum, when dealing with a stressful situation, most people use both problem-focused and emotion-focused coping. Although emotion-focused coping may help in creating emotional balance, people still require problem-solving efforts to manage the demands. (Auerbach, 1989; Billings & Moos, 1984). The important point is that whether we use problem-focused or emotion-focused coping, we are active participants directing our actions toward a goal. What types of skills and strategies we use in changing our problem or regulating our emotional response and how skillfully we employ those strategies depends largely on the context, range of experiences, and capacity for self-understanding. Commonly used strategies can be classified according to their problem- or emotion-focused coping functions (for review of a sizable but inconsistent body of literature on different strategies, see Carver et al., 1989; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Rice, 1992; Zeidner & Saklofske, 1996). Regardless of the type of strategy used, efforts are made to manage stress effectively. At this point we may raise the question to what extent these different coping strategies are effective.

# Effectiveness of Coping Strategies

No single method of coping with stressors is always effective: in reality, most people use a variety of strategies in dealing with any given demand (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). People who effectively manage stressors tend to be those who are able to adjust their coping methods to the demands of changing stressors and situations (Carver et al., 1989; Costa & McCrae, 1989). People's cognitive, emotional, and behavioral coping responses are interrelated and one does not function without influencing the other. Whatever mode of coping people use, it is important to emphasize that they are purposeful and actively planned to deal with stress in the short and long term.

A review of the literature on stress and coping indicates that successful coping involves (a) facing problems directly and making a conscious effort to rationally evaluate options, (b) appraising the stressful situation and coping resources realistically, (c) learning to organize and at times inhibit, potentially disruptive emotional reactions to

stress, and (d) making efforts to ensure that our body is not vulnerable to the damaging effects of stress (Epstein, 1990; Zeidner & Endler, 1996; Zeidner & Saklofske, 1996). No coping strategy can guarantee a successful outcome. Some coping responses may turn out to be ineffective in some circumstances and adaptive in others; therefore, expanding our repertoire of coping resources and strategies can enhance our ability to cope with stressful situations more effectively. The outcome of certain strategies depends on personal and contextual factors, reliance on different coping responses and resources as well as a match between demands characteristics, appraisal, and coping efforts (Carver & Scheier, 1994; Zeidner & Endler, 1996).

Summary. Overall, research on stress and coping described in this chapter provides the reader with background information for understanding the nature of stress and coping. It also leads us to the discussion of occupational stress and to specific issues related to the helping profession, such as how therapists who work with survivors of trauma deal with their work related stress. In focusing on occupational stress more directly, the rest of this chapter will attempt to deal with these issues.

#### Occupational Stress Among Therapists

A major type of stress which is investigated in the present research is related to occupational stress of mental health professionals. Occupational stress can be defined as the interaction of work conditions with characteristics of the individual worker in such a way that the demands of work exceed the ability of the individual to cope with them (Ross & Altmaier, 1994). For most people, stress associated with their job is often transitory and has a minimum impact on their general well-being. However, for some people, the stress can become intense and continue for long periods of time. Furthermore, the demands of their job can produce additional stress in two ways. First, their work load may become too high and unmanageable; and second, some kinds of activities they carry out may be perceived as more stressful than others. For example, professional mental health providers may see or hear about other people's suffering.

empathize with their feelings and thus feel vulnerable themselves. Their empathic response may be related to immediate physical safety, long-range security, self-esteem, or many other things that one values for the self or others. In addition, they often deal with unpredictable, uncontrollable situations that challenge their capabilities. Therefore, they must learn and develop effective coping tactics to deal with their intense experience of stress (Figley, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Saakvitne & Pearlman, 1996; Stamm, 1995). It has long been recognized that individuals in the helping professions are at risk of experiencing burnout, a particular type of occupational stress that, in part, arises from caring about and contact with clients (Freudenberger, 1990; Maslach, 1982; Pines, 1993).

#### **Burnout**

Burnout, a term used to describe prolonged occupational stress, is defined as a "syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment that can occur among individuals who do 'people work' of some kind" (Maslach, 1982, p. 3). Emotional exhaustion refers to feelings of being emotionally overextended and depleted of one's emotional resources; depersonalization involves a negative or extremely detached response to the recipient of helper's care and services; and reduced personal accomplishment refers to a decline sense of competency and achievement in one's work.

Burnout tends to appear gradually through a general erosion of the spirit when caregivers such as therapists struggle to maintain high levels of empathy and caring in therapeutic relationships where there is likely to be unrealistic expectations. In the process of burnout, the therapist becomes emotionally exhausted by continuously empathizing and working with clients' difficult experiences (Pines, 1993). It is this emotional exhaustion that seems to be the main factor in the experience of burnout. According to Maslach (1982), "a person gets overly involved emotionally, overextend him- or herself, and feels overwhelmed by the emotional demands imposed by other

people. The response to this situation (and thus one aspect of burnout) is emotional exhaustion" (p. 3). This kind of exhaustion, however, is unique in that ordinary periods of rest cannot relieve the fatigue. A therapist may take a few days off only to come back the following days still depleted of energy and enthusiasm. As exhaustion progresses, other changes occur. According to Freudenberger (1990) other significant signs of impairment are cynicism, depression, loss of intimacy with friends and family, loss of motivation, and detachment. A significant factor in the experience of burnout is the end result in which highly committed and motivated people may lose their initial enthusiasm and motivation to work. Tragically, burnout robs clients of truly compassionate care when they need it the most and may lead to poor care. As a result of burnout, individuals may leave their jobs or their professions. Beyond the individual effects, burnout has costs to organizations and the larger society (Cherniss, 1995; Kahill,1988; Maslach, 1982).

Research has indicated that burnout is experienced by people who entered their careers with high ideals, motivation, and commitment (Blair & Ramones, 1996; Maslach, 1982; Pines, 1993). According to Pines (1993) "the cause of burnout lies in our need to believe that our lives are meaningful and that the things we do are useful, important, even heroic" (p. 391). Events that undermine this belief can result in burnout. Maslach (1985) has suggested that time limitations, intensity of the client's situation, and long-term involvement in the mental health field can place counselors at risk for burnout. It has been also suggested that taking on additional work responsibilities can contribute to the experience of burnout (Freudenberger & Richelson, 1980).

Summary. Like other kinds of occupational stress, burnout is an extremely serious health problem among professional mental help providers (Sutherland & Cooper, 1990). Burnout is also one of the most discussed reasons for the deterioration of effective services among experienced therapists. Moreover, it is a major professional concern (Cherniss, 1995; Kahill, 1988; Maslach, 1982). In a study of Canadian psychologists,

Kahill (1986) found that 6.3% experienced burnout. It appears that the pressure and challenges of the helping professions place unique demands on these individuals; and without some strategies to buffer themselves from its influence, and without efforts to revitalize their energies, these helpers will eventually burn out. The effects of job demands on these professionals may also be more serious and unique when they deal with traumatized clients because, during the process of helping, professionals may become traumatized vicariously (Figley, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Stamm, 1995; Wilson & Lindy, 1994).

The following discussion focuses on the effects of trauma work on therapists who work with traumatized clients. First, a discussion of traumatic events and their subsequent impacts on primary survivors of trauma will be presented. Second, the concept of VT will be introduced. Finally, the concepts of empathy and countertransference will be discussed in order to explain the special work demands on therapists that can contribute to experience of VT.

#### Vicarious Trauma

One of the most obvious sources of stress are traumatic events that nearly everyone appraises as threatening. These events are unpredictable, threatening and involve extreme stress that is beyond the limits of usual human experience of suffering (Holtzman & Bornemann, 1990; Meichenbaum, 1994). Traumatic events such as natural disasters (e.g., earthquakes and floods), accidental disasters (e.g., car, train and airplane accidents), and intentional human-created disasters (e.g., rape, torture, and war) may overwhelm people's sense of safety, security, and trust (Figley, 1995; Janoff-Bullman, 1992; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Stamm, 1995; Wilson & Lindy, 1994). The traumatized individuals may experience long-term changes in affect, physiological, behavior, and mental functioning: therefore, they may require professional interventions to deal with the impact of traumatic events (Danieli, 1994). However, these

changes are greatly influenced by individuals' personality characteristics, coping resources and circumstances, before, during and after the traumatic experience.

The immediate impact of traumatic events may be physical injuries, economical loss, social disturbances, as well as a sense of terror, helplessness, vulnerability, loss of control and uncertainty (Baum, Cohen & Hall, 1993). The long-term consequences can be debilitating responses involving changes in affect, cognition, behavior and general well-being of the individual (Meichenbaum, 1994; Ver Ellen & Van Kammen, 1990). These responses may appear from months to years after the events resulting in a syndrome known as post-traumatic stress disorder (APA, 1994). PTSD is a delayed stress reaction that recurs repeatedly, even long after the traumatic experience. PTSD is characterized by (a) emotional symptoms including anxiety, survivor's guilt and emotional apathy; (b) cognitive symptoms including hypervigilance, difficulty concentrating, and flashbacks of the events in dreams and memories, and (c) behavioral symptoms such as insomnia and social detachment (Allodi,1990; APA, 1980, 1994; Figley, 1985, 1988, 1995; Meichenbaum, 1994). Stressors are more likely to result in experience of PTSD if they are sudden, severe, repetitive and intentional (Meichenbaum, 1994).

The field of traumatic stress has received a significant attention in the past decade. Two main factors influencing the recent interest are (a) greater awareness of the negative long-term effects of traumatic events on individual's mental well-being, and (b) the inclusion of the diagnosis of PTSD in the third edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder (DSMIII) (APA, 1980). Although the experience of PTSD has been widely associated with the experience of Vietnam veterans, it has been recently applied to other cases of severe stress (Figley, 1995).

Although there have been many studies of individuals who experienced trauma directly, research has only recently focused on those who were traumatized indirectly

(Figley, 1995; Figley & Kleber, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Pearlman & Mc Ian, 1995; Stamm, 1995). However, the diagnosis of PTSD, Criterion A1, clearly refers to the indirect effects of trauma in stating that "...learning about unexpected or violent death, serious harm, or threat of death or injury experienced by a family member or other close associate" (Criterion A1, APA, 1994, p. 424) can be traumatizing as well. There is also supportive evidence that family members, friends and others in close contact with the traumatized individual can experience the debilitating effects of the trauma (Arvay & Uhlemann, 1996; Figley, 1985, 1995; Figley & Kleber, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990).

Recently, researchers have suggested that helpers who repeatedly listen to and share the details of the painful experiences of trauma survivors may experience the effects of traumatic events indirectly and develop, emotional, cognitive and behavioral symptoms similar to those of PTSD (Arvay & Uhlemann, 1996; Figley, 1995). Such secondary effects which have been variably called secondary traumatic stress (Figley, 1995), compassion fatigue (Figley, 1995) or vicarious traumatization (McCann & Pearlman, 1990) are characterized by stress resulting from helping or wanting to help a traumatized client and "...can be disruptive and painful for the helper and can persist for months or years after work with traumatized persons" (McCann & Pearlman, 1990, P. 133). Earlier, Miller, Stiff, & Ellis (1988) chose the term emotional contagion to describe an affective process in which "an individual observing another person experiences emotional responses parallel to that person's actual or anticipated emotions" (p. 254). McCann & Pearlman (1990) view VT as an occupational hazard and assert that it can result in symptoms similar to those in burnout such as depression, despair, cynicism, alienation, psychological and physical symptoms, withdrawal, and a heightened sense of vulnerability, all of which are significant signs of impairment.

Although all of these authors provide various definitions to describe the secondary effects of stress of working with traumatized clients, they contend that (a) merely

knowing about the clients' traumatizing experiences, and (b) empathic engagement and wanting to help the traumatized individual can result in psychological and emotional changes in therapists. Such a change is mainly due to the "transformation of the therapist's or helper's inner experience....to hear someone's story of devastation or betrayal, our cherished beliefs are challenged and we are challenged and we are changed" (Saakvitne & Pearlman, 1996, p. 25). The concept of VT can help in understanding how accumulative exposure to clients' traumatic stories can negatively impact therapists.

The concept of VT which was originally developed by McCann & Pearlman (1990), is based on their constructivist self-development theory (CSDT). This theory provides a framework for understanding how traumatic events affect and change self or personality of the survivor. Recognizing that the changes experienced by helpers parallel those by trauma survivors, it is important to understand which aspects of self become more vulnerable to changes so that we are able to identify the ways in which trauma work impacts therapists personally. Therefore, the basic outline of the theory can help the reader to understand how trauma work influences the therapists and contribute to the experience of VT.

#### Constructivist Self-Development Theory

A basic assumption of the CSDT is that as a result of trauma work, therapists are likely to experience disruption in their sense of identity, world-view, and spirituality (McCann & Pearlman, 1990). McCann & Pearlman assert that therapists' fundamental assumptions about the world, others, and the self will be challenged and changed as a result of their awareness of traumatic events. Intense psychological crisis can happen when therapists experience varying degree of discrepancy between their cognitive schemas and that of the clients (McCann & Pearlman, 1990). Hearing and seeing that other human beings can inflict the trauma on another person, challenges and defies one's cherished view of a just world and a good human nature. Consequently, therapists' cognitive schemas about safety, trust, control, esteem, and intimacy related to self or

others may be seriously challenged and transformed negatively. According to Pearlman and Saakvitne (1995) "therapists cannot do this work without experiencing assaults to their usual ways of viewing themselves, the world, and other people" (p. 295).

Summary. People's previous knowledge, experiences, beliefs and values about the world provide them with a framework by which they perceive and interpret new information. When faced with new and contradictory experiences, their prior theories and understanding become insufficient in guiding their actions and may result in cognitive dissonance (Janoff-Bulman, 1992). Psychotherapy with survivors of trauma is a complex process in which therapists and clients experience intense and difficult emotions in order to move forward through painful memories and experiences. "For a psychotherapist, it is the process of the trauma therapy, including repeated exposure to trauma material in the context of empathic connection with the survivor client, that creates vicarious traumatization" (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995, p. 299). In the following section I examine how specific qualities of the therapist and therapeutic relationship involving empathy and countertransference can contribute to VT.

Contributing Factors to Vicarious Trauma

#### Empathy in the Therapeutic Relationship

Empathy is a vital part of all therapeutic relationships that help in establishing and maintaining rapport as well as making clients feel comfortable so they could work with the therapists in a trustful working relationship. Therapists show empathy when they accurately understand the way in which the client perceives and emotionally experiences events (phenomenological world of the client). Empathy also involves therapists' immersion in their clients' worlds and communicating their understanding to clients (Rogers, 1951). Therapists need simply communicate a sense of understanding and trust in clients' own resources for self-understanding. Trust is the foundation of every personal and professional relationship and must be earned gradually if any change is to occur. This implies confidentiality, honesty and consistency essential for creating a

strong therapeutic basis for clients. When working with survivors of traumatic events, a major goal of therapeutic intervention is the re-creation and enhancement of trust and security in interpersonal relationship. Traumatized clients have already experienced harm and deception in an arbitrary and unpredictable fashion. It is, therefore, vital that therapists do not add to clients' sense of vulnerability and betrayal (Janoff-Bulman, 1992; Jaranson & Popkin, 1998; World Health Organization [WHO], 1996).

Empathy is defined as responding to another individual's experience with a vicarious understanding that is similar to the other person's experience (Eisenberg & Fabes, 1991). According to Figley (1995), the more the therapists empathize with the survivor, the more vulnerable they become to the negative effects of vicarious trauma. For example, most of the symptoms such as intrusive thoughts, nightmares and generalized anxiety reported by therapists reflect those of their clients. Indeed, listening to painful descriptions of horrific stories and maintaining an empathic response to the stories told by clients can result in negative emotions and other psychological reactions. Although, "the process of empathizing with traumatized person helps us to understand the person's experience of being traumatized, but, in the process, we may be traumatized as well" (Figley, 1995, p. 15). Figley attributes therapists' vulnerability to (a) the extreme intensity associated with trauma work, (b) therapists' empathy for clients painful experiences, (c) therapists' personal experience of traumatic events (especially similar events), and (d) reawakening of unmanaged trauma of the therapists as a result of clients' narratives.

Many traumatized clients seek counseling in a state of profound emotional distress. The therapist's task, therefore, involves helping them to clarify their confusion and make sense of their "shattered assumptions" about a "just world". Therapists who are in close contact with traumatized clients, however, face a number of challenges during their therapeutic relationships. In addition to working with clients to overcome or manage their psychological difficulties, therapists must struggle with their own intense

psychological responses. According to Wilson & Lindy (1994), empathy is a "complex enterprise in which the therapist must also be aware of his or her own partial identification with the clients' phenomenological framework. In other words, therapists working with these patients must take into account the process of countertransference" (Wilson & Lindy, 1994, p. 7). In recent years, attention has been given to therapists' affective reactions and the countertransference process of working with traumatized clients (Boehnlein, Kinzie, & Leung, 1998; Danieli, 1988; Wilson & Lindy, 1994). It is, therefore, essential to understand issues related to therapists' countertransference and the therapeutic outcome.

#### Therapeutic Relationship: Countertransference

The term countertransference refers to emotional reactions of a therapist toward a client. Countertransference is a phenomenon involving affective (anxiety, guilt, shame) and cognitive (fantasies, mental associations) reactions (Wilson & Lindy, 1994). The manifestations of countertransference problems include therapist's inability to empathize with client's "normal" response to "abnormal" events, failure to clarify different aspects of the client's stories or to facilitate a full account of the client's experience, and premature or inadequate closure of the interview process. During countertransference, therapists may begin to favor or disfavor clients because the clients are perceived as similar to significant people in the therapists' life. In working through countertransference, therapists may experience some unconscious and unresolved issues of their own. If therapists fail to recognize the operation of countertransference, therapy may not be effective (Boehnlein et al., 1998; Kinzie & Boehnlein, 1993; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Wilson & Lindy, 1994). Because of the emotional intensity of this type of the rapeutic relationship and the vulnerability of the clients, it is imperative that therapists become aware of and be on guard against crossing the boundary between personal involvement and professional caring.

In discussing countertransference, Wilson & Lindy (1994) described two major kinds of emotional reactions experienced by therapists who work with traumatized individuals. These reactions are (a) overidentifying with the clients' issues on the one hand, and (b) avoiding or withdrawing from the clients on the other. Consistent with Wilson and Lindy's discussion, a survey of psychiatrists who work with traumatized refugees reported some major countertransference reactions in their professional and personal lives (Kinzie & Boehnlein 1993). These authors reported that the most common professional experiences were an excessive identification with clients, sadness, depression, anger, irritability, a hyperarousal state and intolerance toward clients with less stressful lives than traumatized refugees. Personal reactions included a sense of (a) intolerance for all violence, (b) vulnerability, and (c) resentment against non-caring societies that allow such violence to happen. In another study of 122 psychotherapists, Van Wagoner, Gelso, Hayes & Diemer (1991) found that therapists reacted to clients' transference issues and clients' demonstration of intense negative emotions by becoming angry and detached.

Catherall and Lane (1990) have discussed the impact of countertransference on therapists who are themselves Vietnam veterans treating other trauma survivors of the Vietnam war. They contend that therapists' coping strategies associated with the two roles of warrior and therapist can create internal conflict in the therapists. The veterans therapists may become unempathic and insensitive to the clients' painful stories. On the other hand, therapists may become overinvolved with veteran clients, and lose their objectivity. Brief experiences of countertransference reactions are considered as therapists' humane response; however when they become a long-term pattern of adaptation they can become counterproductive (Kluft, 1989; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Wilson & Lindy, 1994).

Summary. Recognizing that VT may be a response to working with clients who have experienced trauma, it is important to know what therapists can do to protect

themselves and prevent the potential debilitating stress that accompanies working with clients' unique and challenging issues. For anyone working with survivors of trauma, including therapists, there appears to be a need to develop a greater awareness of the negative impact of trauma therapy. Moreover, it is vital to develop and/or enhance coping strategies that can prevent, minimize or manage stressful experiences associated with vicarious trauma.

## Therapists and Coping with Vicarious Trauma

Although the evidence of VT as a major source of stress for professional caregivers working with trauma survivors is now widely recognized, the nature of coping with VT has only recently been investigated by researchers (Cerney, 1995; Dutton & Rubinstein, 1995; Dyregrov & Michell, 1992; Pearlman, 1995). One study by Dutton & Rubinstein (1995) suggested two categories of personal and professional coping strategies of individuals working with trauma survivors. Examples of personal strategies are "taking time" to play in addition to work, developing a network of emotionally supportive personal relationships, taking time for self exploration, attending to personal needs, and utilizing personal therapy as a means of coping with the effects of working with traumatized clients. On the other hand, professional coping strategies include using peer supervision and consultation, working with others rather than in isolation and diversifying one's professional practice. The authors also suggested that the personal histories of the workers (e.g., previous experience with abuse) may influence both their reactions and learned ways of coping with vicarious trauma. In another study with emergency personnel, Dyregrov and Michell (1992) reported coping strategies such as distracting activities in order to restrict reflection, consciously suppressing their emotions while interacting with the client, actively avoiding thinking about the ramifications of the event, and limiting exposure to stressors. However, neither one of these studies investigated the extent to which these strategies were effective.

Other researchers have developed some guidelines and recommend various approaches for coping with VT (Cerney, 1995; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Saakvitne & Pearlman, 1996; Yassen, 1995). They suggest three groups of coping strategies at the personal, professional and organizational levels for self-care and prevention when dealing with traumatized clients, based on suggestions by trauma therapists and responses to questionnaires.

## Personal Coping Strategies

Coping strategies at the personal level aims at preventing or managing the negative effects of VT that may be manifested at the physical, cognitive, interpersonal, behavioral and spiritual levels. These strategies may involve physical and psychological activities. Physical strategies may consist of basic self-care and self-nurturing activities such as physical exercise, massage, warm bath, adequate sleep and nutrition. Psychological strategies may involve maintaining a life balance through relaxation (e.g., downtime), contact with nature (e.g., gardening), engaging in artistic and creative activities (e.g., writing poetry and cooking), spiritual practices (e.g., meditation and self-reflection) and developing/enhancing skills such as time management, cognitive restructuring, interpersonal communication and assertiveness (Yassen, 1995).

Pearlman & Saakvitne (1995) suggested four personal strategies including identifying disturbed schemas, maintaining a personal life, using personal psychotherapy and identifying healing activities. Identifying disturbed schemas involves therapists' efforts to learn more about their own sensitive need areas that are troublesome and difficult to deal with. These need areas are generally related to safety, trust, esteem, intimacy, and control as identified in CSDT (McCann & Pearlman, 1990). Maintaining a personal life can be accomplished through balancing between work, play and rest. Using personal psychotherapy can help by enabling therapists to explore and focus on their own psychological needs and their origins. Finally, healing activities such as creative arts, keeping a journal, traveling, listening to music, and spending time with family, friends

and children can serve as helpful coping strategies. Both Yassen (1995), and Pearlman & Saakvitne (1995) suggested that performing community service and engaging in political and social activism or in non-trauma volunteer work may provide the therapists with an outlet to counter their inability to undo the traumatic event and overcome their feeling of helplessness.

## Professional Coping Strategies

In the professional realm, many activities are suggested to overcome the effects of VT (Cerney, 1995, Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Yassen, 1995). One professional strategy is arranging supervision and ongoing consultation with an experienced trauma-therapist. Professional consultation is particularly important for those with a personal trauma history since it provides them with a safe and supportive relationship where they can explore and share issues and concerns. Another strategy is to develop professional connection by attending workshops and meeting with colleagues to share coping strategies. The development of a balanced work is also recommended: limiting the number of sessions or the number of trauma clients in a day, spacing of sessions throughout the week, making time for collegial contact, balancing clinical work with other activities such as teaching, research, writing, and even taking a sabbatical from trauma work. Finally, professional strategies may involve setting boundaries and renewing oneself by remaining aware of the importance and meaningfulness of one's work with traumatized clients (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995).

## Organizational Coping Strategies

Although personal and professional strategies have been discussed by many researchers (e.g., Chestman, 1995; Dutton & Rubinstein, 1995; Pearlman, 1995; Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995), there is a paucity of information on organizational strategies. This may be due to the fact that organizations are still unaware of the problems associated with VT and have not yet carried out any substantial measures to overcome them. Pearlman & Saakvitne (1995) suggested three organizational strategies

including (a) providing a comfortable, and private therapy office, (b) arranging for adequate resources for professional development, opportunities for regular supervision and consultation, and (c) developing adjunctive services such as access to medical professionals, self-help groups, newsletters, books and films.

Summary. With our awareness of the negative impacts of trauma work, it is vital for caregivers to initiate plans and activities to deal with its effects. Therapists who work with survivors of trauma need to actively take preventative measures in order reduce their vulnerability to VT. Personal, professional and organizational coping strategies suggested here are designed to minimize the potential negative impacts of VT. The extent to which these strategies are effective in counteracting VT are discussed in the following section.

## The Effectiveness of Coping Strategies

Only a few studies have investigated the extent to which coping strategies have been effective and helpful in dealing with VT (Chestman, 1995; Pearlman, 1995; Schauben & Frazier, 1995; ). In one study, Pearlman (1995) surveyed 117 psychologists about the extent to which 24 activities were helpful in coping with the effects of VT. She found that taking vacation, social activities, and emotional supports from colleagues ranked first, second and third respectively as helpful activities. Journal writing and yoga were reported as the least helpful among these 24 activities. Among other findings, socializing, exercising, spending time with family were more helpful than engaging in social justice activities and massage.

In a study of female counselors working with sexual violence survivors, Schauben and Frazier (1995) classified coping strategies into the most and the least frequently used categories. The most frequently used strategies included active coping such as focusing on doing something about the problem, seeking emotional support from friends or relatives, planning for taking actions, seeking instrumental support by asking other's advice about what to do, and humor. On the other hand, the least frequently employed

strategies were alcohol or drug use, denial in believing that the trauma has happened and getting involved in behavioral disengagement (e.g., I can't deal with it and I quit trying).

Finally, in a survey of therapists belonging to three psychological associations

Chestman (1995) found that coping behavior varied with percentage of trauma clients in
the case load. Those therapists with higher ratio of trauma clients talked less to family
and friends about work but attended more conferences and were involved in other
professional activities. Chestman suggests that increased professional activities by the
therapists could be considered as an attempt to have a sense of community while
protecting significant others from exposure to secondary trauma.

Summary. Trauma literature indicates that trauma therapy can affect therapists negatively and that its effects are different from those related to general psychotherapy. Psychotherapy with traumatized clients places special demands on therapists and can create conflicting thoughts and feelings. Listening to clients' traumatic stories can trigger distressing and frightening emotions such as sadness and anger in therapists. The process of empathy and countertransference can increase therapists' vulnerability to VT and influence their objectivity. Therefore, therapists need to be aware of their own emotional reactions and find helpful and effective ways to manage various vicarious responses to trauma.

#### The Current Study

This review reveals that literature on trauma therapy is framed in terms of psychological and coping responses to traumatized clients in general and traumatized sexual abuse in particular. The experience of VT and coping strategies among therapists working with other population of traumatized clients has not been addressed adequately. For example, there is little research on therapists working with traumatized refugees who are survivors of torture. It is important to differentiate between types of trauma and explore the experiential effects of VT among therapists accordingly. In order to increase our understanding of the meaning of the phenomenon of VT from the perspective of

those therapists experiencing it, a phenomenological study that focuses on the personal experience of therapists working with survivors of torture was undertaken.

While VT can influence caregivers working with any traumatized population, this thesis focuses on therapists' experience of working with refugees who are adult survivors of organized violence and torture. This group of traumatized individuals have come under pressure to escape physical, psychological, economical and political threats to their survival (Lefley, 1989). Similar to other immigrants, these sub-group of refugees have experienced "culture shock", the clash between their norms and values and those of the host culture (Williams & Berry, 1991). However, striving to settle and adjust to their new environment, they must also cope with stressful experiences of violence, trauma, and loss in the home country.

Given the unique situation and experience of refugees before, during, and after fleeing from their homes, many of them tend to be highly stressed and traumatized. Therefore, they may require particular attention and empathic understanding from a multidisciplinary team of caregivers who can aid them to work through the negative psychological, physiological, social and spiritual effects of their trauma (Supply & Service Canada 1988; Vesti & Kastrup, 1994). Members of such a multidisciplinary team may themselves be at a high risk for experiencing VT due to the stressful nature of their work (Arvay & Uhlemann, 1996; Figley, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990). Questions are raised whether therapists counseling clients who are survivors of torture are impacted by their work: How does working with refugee clients who are survivors of torture affect therapists and how do therapists cope with its effects? It is hoped that this thesis explores these questions and contribute to this very important research area.

## **Summary and Conclusion**

The main aim of the present chapter was to review research on stress and coping among caregivers, particularly mental health professionals working with traumatized clients. Theoretical and research background on stress and coping was presented.

Although theorists have originally conceived stress as a stimulus or as response, more recent development in the stress area has emphasized a transactional approach in which the interaction between the individual and the environment is taken into consideration. The transactional perspective brought about the concept of cognitive appraisal of both the stressful situation and the resources available to the individual to cope it. Two types of coping were discussed: Problem-focused coping which deals directly with the stressful event and emotion-focused coping which involves efforts to manage the emotional distress related to the situation perceived as stressful. The question of the degree of effectiveness of different coping strategies was also explored.

The review of studies on stress and coping was followed by the discussion of occupational stress. One type of occupational stress is burnout which involves physical, emotional and mental exhaustion as a result of job involvement. Signs of impairment of the care-giver are cynicism, depression, loss of intimacy with friends and family, loss of motivation and detachment.

Another type of occupational stress is vicarious traumatization experienced by care-givers including therapists. Although it is recognized that trauma survivors may experience PTSD, little attention has been given to those who are vicariously traumatized by their contact with the trauma survivors including therapists. A major theory that helps to explain VT is the constructivist self-development theory which suggests that trauma work may disrupt the therapists' sense of identity, world-view and spirituality as a result of a discrepancy between therapists' cognitive schema and that of the client. Finally, studies reviewed in this chapter dealt with the coping strategies used by professional helpers to manage the effects of VT such as personal, professional and organizational strategies.

Overall, review of the literature indicates that although there has been increasing awareness of issues related to the effects of, and the coping strategies to deal with VT, there is little research on therapists dealing with refugees who are survivors of torture.

The following chapters report findings from the current study that explored the experience of VT and coping with its impact among therapists working with a sub-group of refugees who are survivors of torture.

## CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGIY

Research Design: A Qualitative-Phenomenological Method

In this chapter, the methodological framework of the study which was based on the qualitative-phenomenological methods is outlined and a description of the research process and method of analysis is provided. Although there are a variety of research frameworks and methods to facilitate a researcher's inquiry for a phenomenon, the nature of the inquiry influences a researcher's choice of a particular method. My quest for exploring the experience of "support providers" to survivors of torture and their ways of coping reflected my desire to create an atmosphere that would allow for an in-depth exploration of therapists' experiences with VT. A qualitative-phenomenal research perspective was chosen in order to focus on the subjective meaning participants attributed to their experience of VT and coping; that is how the phenomenon was experienced (structural description) and what was experienced (textural description) by participants (Berg, 1998; Creswell, 1998; Moustakas, 1994).

Two of the most central tenets of phenomenology are (a) the quest to understand human experience, and (b) the importance of knowing the experience in a holistic fashion. In employing a qualitative-phenomenal perspective, my overall goal was to achieve authentic and accurate descriptions of the participants' experience which had a meaning within their specific situation or context. According to Gama (1992),

Qualitative research might be defined as a general term encompassing a variety of strategies for investigations carried out in the natural environment, dealing with information that is not reduced to its numerical magnitude, presenting findings that are not described by quantification, and attempting to understand and describe the problem holistically and within its sociocultural context. (p. 4)

Such an approach to research focuses on narrative accounts, description, interpretation, context, and meaning, while attempting to understand the phenomenon from the participant's perspective (Berg, 1998).

Osborne (1994) pointed out that phenomenological method enables the researcher to investigate the human inner world and to explore conscious experience directly. In the present investigation, a phenomenological research design enabled me to inquire into participants' subjective experience of VT and to gain an appreciation of their unique coping strategies. In addition, it allowed for an in-depth exploration of participants' holistic experiences (systemic, integrated) to include emotional, cognitive, behavioral and spiritual domains at both the professional and personal levels.

In the area of VTresearch where there is little background information on working with particular group of traumatized clients, an exploratory research such as the present one was important because it provided experiential data from the therapists themselves. A qualitative-phenomenological approach was deemed appropriate for the present study since previous investigations have not carried out a study of the coping strategies of therapists dealing with traumatized refugees who are survivors of torture.

## Role of the Researcher and the Participants

One of the significant characteristics of qualitative research is the relationship between the participants and the researcher. The nature of the researcher-participant relationship in qualitative research has an important impact on the collected data and its interpretation. It is suggested that the researcher and the participants influence each other in varying degrees. In qualitative studies the researcher usually becomes closely involved in the participants' experience in order to be able to interpret their experiences. It is therefore necessary for the researcher to be open to the experience of the participants, rather than being influenced by her/his own perceptions. Participants also become involved by assisting in determining research questions, guiding data collection,

and interpreting data. This, in turn, provides more of a power-sharing partnership where the participants can also play an active and involved role (Marlett, 1998).

According to Creswell (1998), a phenomenological approach enables researchers to avoid preconceived ideas from their own personal experience or their previous knowledge because they can ask participants to describe as well as clarify their experiences (i.e., experiential meaning). Perhaps, it could be argued that since I am becoming a therapist, I was already entering from a certain set of a priori assumptions about the experiences of VT and coping with it. However, my argument is that my background helped me to establish an advanced empathic relationship with participants of the study and therefore, created a more genuine understanding throughout the research process. My assumptions, perhaps, mirrored more appropriately the experiences of the participants. Thus, I was not only making my predisposition clear, I was also engaging in an intimate understanding of similar and yet unique experiences which assisted the interviewees to become more forthcoming about their experiences with VT and coping.

Summary. The phenomenological approach allows researchers to explore the meaning of a phenomenon for the individuals who have had the experience. In addition, it allows participants to share a comprehensive description of their experience. Since the aim of this inquiry was to explore the experience of therapists working with survivors of torture, a phenomenological method seems particularly suitable. In the following sections, I have summarized the major procedural steps of this study including, characteristics of participants, procedures for selecting participants, interviewing procedures, data analysis procedures as well as issues related to credibility of the research design.

#### Participants of the Study

A sample of 10 professional mental health practitioners including 2 men and 8 women were recruited on a voluntary basis. Among these participants, five were clinical psychologists, three social workers, and two counselors. The average age of the

participants was 39.7 years, ranging from 28 to 53. Participants were members of a multidisciplinary voluntary team who have provided consultation and therapeutic counseling services to a traumatized sub-group of refugees who are survivors of torture. Participants have been affiliates of the Host Support Program (HSP) for Survivors of Torture and Organized Violence which is sponsored by the Calgary Catholic Immigration Society (CCIS). The accessibility of these caregivers, their willingness to take part in the project, their mental health related background and, most of all, their prior therapeutic interaction with a survivor of torture-related trauma determined the nature of the sample of the present research project. The participants were given pseudonyms and code numbers from one to ten in order to protect their identities. Table 1 provides demographic characteristics of the therapists in the study.

It is important to point out that participants' professional work is not exclusively in the field of trauma to deal with traumatized clients. Some of refugee clients were referred to them because they were displaying PTSD symptoms, while others were accidentally identified during the therapy for other presenting issues.

## Procedures for Selecting Participants

A general invitation letter was forwarded to immigrant surveying agencies and other practitioners known to the HSP for Survivors of Torture in Calgary, Canada (Appendix A). The letter invited community-based volunteers and professionals to participate in the study entitled "Providers of Support to Survivors of Torture". Interested individuals were asked to contact the coordinator of the HSP or the principle investigator directly and indicate interest in participating in the study. A total of 15 volunteers and mental health practitioners were recruited to participate in the study. Out of the 15 individuals (5 volunteers and 10 professionals) only the experiences of the ten professionals who took part in the study are reported in this thesis.

Upon recruitment, participants were phoned by the principle investigator or the researcher assistant (the author of this thesis) in order to set up an interview timetable

Table 1

Demographic Characteristic of the Participants

Pseudo-	Profession	Work Setting	Years in	Number of SOT Clients	Sex	Age	Continent of
name			Practice	SOI Chents			Birth
Mary	Social Worker	CCA	11	5-10	F	42	North America
John	Psychologist	Private Practice	20 +	15-20	M	53	North America
Heather	Psychologist	Private Practice	10	1-5	F	48	North America
Susan	Psychologist	Government	4	N/A	F	41	North America
Debra	Psychologist	CCA	11	20-25	F	35	Central America
Jim	Psychologist	CCA & Private Practice	22	40 +	М	48	Eastern Europe
Joan	Social Worker	CCA	5	20-25	F	28	Eastern Europe
Rose	Counselor	CCA	7	1-5	F	38	Eastern Europe
Betty	Counselor	CCA	2	5-10	F	35	Asia
Kathy	Social Worker	CCA	7	40+	F	29	North America

Note. CCA= Community Counselling Agency

**SOT= Survivors of Torture** 

and designate locations. Each participant was also mailed an interview protocol (Appendix B), two copies of a consent form, one of which was to be signed and returned to the principle investigator (Appendix C). A demographic questionnaire was also included asking them to indicate their age, sex, country of origin, professional specialization, work setting, number of years in professional practice and an estimated number of survivors torture clients they worked with (see Appendix D). All interviews were conducted in either the participants' offices or an office at the University of Calgary.

## Interviewing Procedure

Data were collected primarily through one-to-one interviews. Each participant was interviewed once, for a duration of 1-2 hours. The exact duration of each interview was initially set for one hour; however, there were no actual time restrictions and the length of each interview was determined by the amount of interaction between the researcher and participant. All interviews were audiotaped. Although follow-up interviews were outlined in the letter of invitation, the participants or the researcher made no request for such interviews. Interviews began in October 1987 and ended in May 1988.

Semi-structured interviewing was chosen as the primary data collection method since it was well suited to this exploratory study where the goal was discovering rather than verification, prediction or establishment of causal relationships (Creswell, 1998). This approach was also appropriate for providing detailed accounts of participants' experiences while allowing the researcher to maintain some framework of organization, preventing a "mish-mash" of information that lacked coherence. According to Kvale (1996) semistructured interview design ".... has a sequence of themes to be covered, as well as suggested questions. Yet, at the same time, there is an openness to changes of the sequence and forms of questions in order to follow up the answers given and the stories told by the participants" (p. 124). This is compatible with a phenomenological interview which involves an informal, interactive process that utilizes open-ended questions.

Open-ended questions and prompts enabled participants to make detailed comments about their experience with VT and coping.

An interview guide (questionnaire) developed by the principle investigator was used during the interview. It indicated the general topics to be covered in sequence of appropriately worded open-ended questions in order to obtain participants' insights into their work. For example, broad questions, such as the following helped to facilitate obtaining substantive descriptions of the participants' experiences: Describe what is rewarding to you about working with clients who are survivors of torture; describe your reaction of being affected by the survivor's experience of trauma; and what have you found to be helpful coping strategies for working through difficult experiences in working with survivor clients? Participants were given the freedom to elaborate or digress from the interview protocol if they desired to do so.

It was important that participants were able to talk about their experiences in a relaxed and supportive setting that encouraged candor (Kvale, 1996). Therefore, determining whether I should reflect meaning, or predominantly use the soliciting skills of questioning and probing was a constant struggle for me throughout the interview. However, it became clear during the interview, that an influential guiding force was my authentic attempt to listen intently to what they were saying.

During the interview, in addition to the open-ended questions, each participant was also shown two tables adapted from Yassen (1995), that highlighted various symptoms of secondary traumatic stress reported by therapists working with traumatized clients. These symptoms were categorized according to their cognitive, emotional, behavioral, spiritual, interpersonal and physical effects. Participants were asked to review the tables and indicate whether they had experienced some or all of the listed symptoms. Tables were shown to participants in order to understand their experience of VT and various symptoms associated with it.

Each interviewee was provided with a context for the interview by a briefing before the interview and a debriefing afterward. During the briefing period the interviewer described the purpose of the interview, the use of a tape recorder, and answered participants' questions and concerns such as confidentiality issues or availability of the recorded materials to them. Debriefing provided participants with opportunity to bring up issues they may have been thinking about or concerned with during the interview. For example, two participants were concerned about their expression of emotions such as crying during the interview. During the briefing and debriefing period, the tape recorder was turned off.

## Analysis of the Data: Interview Analysis

According to Moustakas (1994) phenomenological data analysis proceeds through the methodology of reduction, the analysis of specific statements and themes, and a search for all possible meanings. Therefore, attempts were made to present the textural (what) and the structural (how) meanings of participants' experiences in brief descriptions that represented the experience of all the participants in a study, while setting aside all prejudgements of the researcher's experiences. As Creswell (1998) stated:

Phenomenological analysis requires the researcher to state his or her assumptions regarding the phenomenon under investigation and then bracket or suspend these preconceptions in order to fully understand the experience of the subject and not impose an a priori hypothesis on the experience. (p. 277)

All material on the 10 tapes from the interviews were transcribed verbatim by a professional transcriber, resulting in 229 pages of transcription. Verbatim transcription conveyed the context of the conversation and provided as much detail and meaning as possible. Each tape was identified with the date of the interview and interviewee's assigned code number and pseudonym in order to safeguard confidentiality. The

transcriber was instructed to include in the text nonverbal communications, such as laughter or pauses in conversation in order to capture participants' affective expressions. In order to retain the meaning of the text, no editing or censoring of the material took place during transcription. The format of the transcript that included numbering of each line of the transcripts helped to organize data and facilitated reading them and referring to them later on. Each transcript was then read in attempt to begin the process of phenomenological data analysis as outlined by Kvale (1996), Creswell (1998) and Moustakas (1994).

## Coding by Topic

Coding by topic was a useful way to start data analysis since it allowed a large amounts of data to be organized into manageable and meaningful topics. Coding is "assigning tags or labels to the data, based on our concepts. Essentially, what we are doing is condensing the bulk of our data sets into analyzable units" (Coffey & Atkinson. 1996, p. 26). However, before coding the statements of participants, I started a preview of the entire data set by reading the 10 interview transcripts in order to become familiar with their contents with no preconceived ideas. Another purpose of the preview of the entire data was to find some order in the interview transcripts. Reading through all transcripts provided me with a sense of the overall data. At the same time, I wrote reflective notes in the margins of the transcripts in order to help me in the initial stage of exploring the database and interpreting possible meanings of different statements (e.g., whether the material is relevant or irrelevant to the questions I raised in the study). My notes included key concepts that were described throughout the pages of the interview transcripts and identified different topics including both the experience of VT and attempts to cope with it. Throughout the interviews I also kept a personal journal recording my observations and reflection about participants' issues (e.g., participants' deep desire to share their feelings of hurt and disgust at perpetrators or respect and

admiration for survivors). My journal was a collection of reflections that helped me to understand my personal responses to hearing the participants' narratives.

#### Horizonalization of Data

The second step of analysis involved the process of horizonalization of data. During this process I identified statements in the interviews about how participants were experiencing VT and how they were coping with its impact (describing the meaning of their experience). Coded portions of the interview data were used for the textural descriptions (of what was experienced) and the structural description (of how it was experienced). I then developed a list of these statements eliminating repetition and overlap. The next step involved capturing the meaning (essence) of what the interviewee had described. During this difficult and critical step, I was able to discern relationships, patterns, and themes that ran throughout each transcript. I began this process by reading, rereading, and reflecting upon the significant statements in order to obtain the meaning of the participants' statements and to develop thematic statements from the content of the interview data. Then, the contents of interviewees' statements were sorted out into "meaning units". These meaning units were directly related to research questions and were identified in the narratives of each participant. They were statements, phrases, or short sections of text that represented participants' experience of VT and their methods of coping. The selection was then paraphrased to capture its underlying meaning. The aggregate of formulated meanings was organized into clusters of themes. These clusters represented themes that had emerged from and were common to all of the participants' descriptions. Three clusters of themes were identified as follows:

- 1. Motivation factors for working with survivors of torture.
- 2. Impact of working with survivors of torture
- 3. Personal and professional coping strategies

Pertinent data from each transcript related to identified themes were then summarized in a table format. As a final validation, a copy of participants' transcribed

participants in order to make sure that I had fully captured all points that were most important to them. All participants responded positively to the summaries and, therefore, there was no need for clarification, addition, deletion or further interviews.

The final stage of analysis involved narrowing the focus of the analysis to the experience of VT and ways of coping. Therefore, contents of the interviews were further clustered into common sub-themes from which this author organized narrative descriptions.

In sum, recognizing that there were different approaches to qualitative analysis, and that I was guided to some extent by the conventions within my own academic discipline, the texts I studied, and my previous personal experiences, it was important to adapt systematic and comprehensive approaches as the needs of this research data suggested rather than attempt to follow any single approach rigidly. It was also important that the analysis of the research method provided order and credible rigor to the data.

Credibility of the Study

The question of validity is one of meaning: Does the ultimate depiction of the experience derived from one's own rigorous, exhaustive self-searching and from the explications of others present comprehensively, vividly, and accurately the meanings and essences of the experience? (Moustakas, 1990, p. 32)

Qualitative research has been often criticized for not adhering to traditional norms of reliability and validity. However, establishing their own terms and procedures, methods for reliability and validity have been always used in qualitative research (e.g., Eisner, 1991; Lather, 1993; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Richardson, 1990; Wolcott, 1994). For example, Lincoln & Guba use terms such as 'credibility', 'transferability', 'dependability' and 'confirmability' in order to establish the trustworthiness of a study; they used them to replace the familiar terms in quantitative research of 'internal validity',

'external validity', 'reliability' and 'objectivity' respectively. Creswell (1998) used the term verification to describe validity and reliability to underscore "qualitative research as a distinctive approach, a legitimate mode of inquiry in its own rights" (p. 201). He views "verification as a distinct strength of qualitative research in that the account made through extensive time spent in the field, the detailed thick description, and the closeness to participants in the study" (p. 201).

Thus, qualitative research does not dismiss reliability and validity, but attempts to put them in a broader perspective. Even though qualitative research uses different terminology, Creswell (1998) identifies and discusses eight verification procedures. Creswell recommends that in qualitative research at least two of these eight procedures should be used in any given investigation. In the present study, I made many attempts to ensure the verification or the trustworthiness of the data by following a number of these procedures. According to Creswell, in a procedure termed "member checks", the researcher seeks the participants' view for the credibility of the data. Participants of this study were provided with their original transcription of the interview and a summary of their points of view categorized by identified themes. They were asked to verify accuracy of the meaning of their experiences and whatever that was felt to have been missed. Moreover, similar to the "triangulation" procedure in which multiple sources are used to corroborate the evidence, the data were derived from participants representing various types of professions (psychologists, counselors, social workers, researcher and academician who worked in different settings such as private practice, public agencies and a teaching institution). Furthermore, participants were not restricted by a stringent time limit during the interview and were subjected to "prolonged engagement" in order to establish rapport and trusts. This in turn enabled me to obtain "rich, thick description" of the experience of VT from participants and the methods they used to cope with it.

Summary. Ultimately, however, the reader determines the trustworthiness of the data by becoming a critic (Eisner, 1991). In critiquing the text, it is important for the

reader to revisit the purpose of the research inquiry. One major purpose of this inquiry was to deepen the reader's understanding of the meaning (experience) of VT and coping with its effect from the perspective of therapists who work with survivors of torture. The aim of this inquiry was also to contribute to the existing knowledge of the coping strategies used in dealing with VT. Hence, as you become engaged in reading this thesis you may ask the following questions: Does the research make sense? Does it explore and discuss the phenomenon from a balanced perspective including relevant literature and lived experiences of participants? Is the data thoughtfully and comprehensively interpreted? Are the concepts clear and understandable? (Eisner, 1991).

In the following chapter the findings and analysis of the interviews are presented in the form of thematic descriptions supported by quotations from the participants.

#### CHAPTER FOUR: PRESENTATION OF THE FINDINGS

A major goal of phenomenological inquiry used in the analysis of the present study is to explore and understand the phenomena and identify, through thematic analysis and description, the essential structures (common framework) and meaning of the experience of participants (Creswell, 1998). Therefore, my primary aim in this chapter is to describe identified themes that may illuminate on the meaning of VT and the methods of coping used to counteract its negative impact on participants of the study. I will use excerpts from participants' transcripts in order to support identified themes. The excerpts have been edited by omitting pauses, repetitions and other idiosyncrasies, but the wording of the participants was kept intact. I will also provide comments and information in parentheses to indicate emotional expressions such as laughter and crying of participants. When required, I present my personal comments in brackets in order to clarify ambiguous statements.

In general, narratives provided by professionals participating in this study demonstrated diverse reactions, challenges and experiences, which illustrate common themes about various aspects of VT. These themes provided a common framework for the experience of the participants. An analysis of the discourse identified the following three themes that represent the participants' experiences of working with survivor clients:

- 1. Motivating factors for working with survivors of torture.
- 2. Impact of working with survivors of torture.
- 3. Personal and professional coping strategies

Within each of the main themes, sub-themes were also identified. These themes and sub-themes are summarized in Table 2. In the following section, the thematic descriptions and supporting statements from the participants interviews are presented.

#### Table 2

## Themes and Sub-Themes Emerging from Participants' Transcripts

## Theme I. Motivating Factors for Working with Survivors of Torture

Professional responsibility: Helping as a therapist

Social and human responsibility

Ethical-moral responsibility

Personal and professional enrichment

## Theme II. Impact of Working with Survivors of Torture

**Preliminary Effects** 

Impact on the professional level

Impact on the cognitive level

Impact on the emotional level

Impact on the spiritual and Religious level

Symptoms of Secondary Traumatic Stress

Cognitive symptoms

Flashback of images
Diminished concentration
Self-doubt
Whirling thoughts
Confusion

#### **Emotional symptoms**

Feeling shock
Anger & rage
Powerlessness, anxiety, sadness & depression
Guilt, shame & helplessness

#### Behavioral symptoms

Nightmares Impatience Exhaustion

(table continued)

## Table 2 (continued)

Physical symptoms

Stomach pains, headache & rapid heartbeat

Spiritual symptoms

# Questioning the meaning of life & anger at God

## Theme III. Personal and Professional Coping strategies

Problem-Focused Coping Strategies

Establishing boundaries
Seeking instrumental support
Using proactive strategies

## **Emotion-Focused Coping Strategies**

Self-care and self-nurturing behaviors
Seeking support for emotional reasons
Turning to religion and spiritual activities for support
Focus on emotions and venting of emotions
Emotional distancing
Acceptance
Positive reinterpretation
Mental disengagement
Behavioral disengagement

## Motivating Factors for Working with Survivors of Torture

In this section, I present participants' response to my inquiry about their motives for working with survivors of torture clients. For all participants, this work appeared to be more than simply doing a job. They were motivated by other factors such as a sense of deep understanding for, and moral and personal responsibility to do something about their clients' pain and suffering. Representative statements from the interview transcripts revealed that motives underlying working with survivor clients consisted of both commonalties and differences from one participant to another. The following citations from the discourse of participants indicate four primary motives, including (1) professional responsibility, (2) social and human responsibility, (3) ethical-moral responsibility, and (4) personal and professional enrichment.

## Professional Responsibility: Helping as a Therapist

As I listened to participants, I realized that a major aim of the therapists in working with survivor clients was to help them to deal with their psychological scars and move forward as effectively as possible. Participants used their professional knowledge, skills and commitment, in addition to their high levels of energy and enthusiasm, to help their clients manage and overcome their emotional and spiritual pain.

There is such an overwhelming need, and the pain is powerful: It is like wanting to stop the bleeding. -John

I guess what holds me in this kind of work altogether is helping people find ways out of their pain. Their dilemma is very intriguing to me. -Mary

Helping someone who really needs the help of the counselor ....they came here as refugees and they are scared and they don't know about the future, they are very insecure. -Betty

When I see that they benefit in a strong way from the therapy. That is the thing I'm getting from this. -Jim

Seeing people doing better....knowing that they are

## adapting in the new society. -Joan

Well I think it was, like if I don't help them who will help them, and probably I just engaged in my helping role and I just couldn't say no, and of course it was tough once I started doing it. I just wanted to help. -Debra

Participants believed that therapists had a professional responsibility to find appropriate and creative ways of addressing survivor clients' issues. Their professional commitment reflects themes of liberation that lead to outcomes of resolution and hope for clients.

In addition to counseling, John provided professional assessment of refugees' mental health which was used for immigration purposes. His professional assessment was critical and could influence clients' refugee claims. Therefore, he experienced an overwhelming sense of responsibility to represent their situations in a sensitive and accurate manner.

I know that my yakking is going to make the critical difference for the Board, I feel responsible. -John

Susan described her work as an extension of herself as a person. She believed that as helpers, we ought to put our actions where our beliefs are; otherwise it would be all just words. She was, however, clear about her helping goals that were in the client's best interest.

Ensuring that the people that are experiencing these traumas access appropriate and adequate care and that has always been the focus of my work....That is a mandate within my work, within who I am; and I bring that into any position I enter into. -Susan

Although some of work-related motivations are universal and shared by most people when they enter the work force (e.g., to have significant impact, to be successful, and to be appreciated), some of the motivations are profession-specific and shared by the group of people who choose a particular profession. In addition, some of the motivations are personal and unique to the individual worker. As I reflected on participants' statements,

it became very clear that these professionals were highly motivated individuals who had chosen their career with high hopes and expectations of what their work could provide.

#### Social and Human Responsibility

In addition to their professional involvement, participants had voluntarily offered many hours of their expertise in counseling survivor clients through the Calgary Catholic Immigration Society's host support program. The tasks and activities to which participants were committed to, reflected who they were at a very deep level. They appeared to have come to their profession with visions of creating a positive difference in people's lives regardless of their cultural differences. The following statements indicate that their motivation goes beyond professional responsibility to achieve more social and humanitarian ideals:

People have talked about this around sexual abuse for adults, they talk about this around rape....if you work around refugees you are going to become even more of an advocate, if your are working cross-culturally you are going to come up against the difficulties people have because of their cultural membership; and part of transforming to becoming an intercultural therapist means that you could take a social advocacy and you take on the force of people because of their collective experience within the mainstream culture. -John

Recognizing that everyone has a right to be secure from violence and abuse, participants moved closer to making real the vision of justice and equity for all. They believed that they had a social and human responsibility to change and stop violence.

I don't think that we are an island here within Calgary, within Canada, within North America, things that happen around the rest of the world affect us deeply. And in fact, we are affected even more because of the fact that we have people from these countries who are being integrated into our society and, it is important to honor and share with them things that are important to them, including the fact that they have had to survive torture. -Heather

Participants were quick to acknowledge that with their professional role came responsibility and they described how they exercised their sense of duty.

It is a social justice issue for me as well.... Ensuring that people have equal access to services and to participation in life, that they have equal access to public health outcomes; that they have equal access to freedom and opportunities to live a safe, non-violent life; and I think when they get to Canada physically maybe, they have those options, but I don't think psychologically they do and so in their minds they are still living in a violent world. And I think that is important not only for their own outcomes, but it is important for Canadian outcome, because people carrying that kind of thing can lead down to generations; it can lead them to antisocial behaviors and so it impacts all the way down the line, and that is what I mean by social justice, ensuring that these things don't impact negatively on those surrounding the people that are undergoing it, but also the people that are undergoing it themselves. -Susan

Participants believed that human rights were universal and they must be enjoyed by everyone, everywhere. They believed that by standing up for survivors, they were also standing up for themselves.

As service providers we help our clients as well as fight against cruelties, trying to make the world a little bit better than it is. -Joan

Participants described moments of human connection as they witnessed pain and suffering. The social justice issues they dealt with, created strong sense of social and human responsibility to influence existing beliefs and practices.

Like other participants, Jim saw his helping role as instrumental in helping him to be an activist who could take some helpful steps towards wrongdoing of his generation and others in the society. Jim's sense of social and human responsibility was also mixed with guilt feelings.

I didn't take a part in this war, and therefore it isn't my responsibility but in some way I feel that my generation, ....has something to do with this war....We didn't stop it,

my generation, and in that sense I feel that it's my duty to help the people who went through that time. -Jim

Participants described their sense of concern based on the principles of compassion and caring, a genuine compassion based on respect for others and the realization that others have the right to be happy and overcome suffering. Participants could see the suffering of others and therefore developed a genuine sense of concern for their rights and welfare.

## Ethical-Moral Responsibility

Like many therapists, participants chose their profession because they were hopeful about reserving human dignity and the possibilities for a better world. They believed that for change to happen in any community, the initiative must come from the individual. Therefore, they clearly saw their role as instrumental in making positive changes in the lives of clients. These participants saw work challenges as part of ethical-moral responsibility.

To promote a kind of tolerance and understanding among different ethnic groups here....to help them establish connections...When you are a psychologist you just work with different kinds of problems, people that are suffering; that's your choice you made years and years ago. -Jim

Participants challenged themselves to see more sharply, to hear more clearly and to feel more empathically. They believed that it was important that they rededicate themselves to completing the circle of human rights.

For me, as a Canadian to start to get my head around what people have experienced and some of the horror stories that they have experienced that I cannot possibly begin to understand; but I think it is important that we do at least recognize that they are there and that we've got to deal with it at some level. -Susan

Like others, John talked about his passion for peace, justice, and God, which has led him to step out in defense of those who were victims of violence and prejudice. He believes that as therapists we have to commit ourselves to helping others. For him the act of helping is an extension of both moral and spiritual ethics.

I feel that I have responsibility....I believe that we have the responsibility to live well in this world as imperfectly as we do that....for me, the spiritual path is very close to the path of action....so what I get out of it is the sense that I'm doing something that is proper. I guess that is very, very simplistic and may sound kind of moralistic...It is very much a personal ethics, a sense of personal ethics, it is a part that I take really seriously. -John

As I listened to the participants and reflected on their statements, it became clear to me that, beyond their professional responsibility they had a genuine purpose in life in making sure others live a fair life too.

#### Personal and Professional Enrichment

In addition to the negative impact of their work, participants also talked about a sense of enlightenment as they were challenged to find creative and new ways in order to help their clients. In many different ways they were able to rediscover their own strength when being confronted with issues that they had not faced before. Their work with survivor clients involved considerable amount of learning and growth. Furthermore, participants felt a sense of personal and professional satisfaction as they observed their clients adjusting to their new lives.

Working with trauma makes me much better professionally, because I have to think deeper, I have to think faster, I have to have more precise solutions.-John

It has been very enlightening and I think it has assisted me in being a better counselor in a lot of ways. Personal growth definitely is something that will impact on your ability to be a better clinician. -Kathy

Participants described their clients' levels of empowerment as they described their own. Paying attention to clients' adjustments and noting the positive impact they had on their clients' lives was a very enriching experience for most of the participants. They

found a lot of affirmation in what they were doing and experienced a sense of accomplishment and joy as they observed clients through their journey of healing.

It is almost like they are in a hole....and once you see them coming out of there, that is rewarding for me. -Debra

When they come back [after the therapy is over] and say 'thank you'....I feel that I am appreciated. -Joan

It is a good challenge to work with them, to try to help them to return to their previous level of functioning. -Jim

One of the important aims of therapy that challenged participants was rebuilding survivors' trust in authorities. For Rose and Betty the real reward came when their clients began to trust them. They saw that with their help clients gradually dealt with built-up fear, anger, confusion and sadness, and emerged happier with more confidence and trust in others and themselves. The triumph of these clients was inspiring to them both in their professional and personal lives.

The first sign of reward; it was some kind of shine, some kind of warmth in her eyes, and I remember after seven or eight sessions this lady told me, you know, I trust you now; after six or seven sessions, it was the first reward ... When this person became aware of her value again [value of trust] -Rose

When you see change in your client's mental and physical health, that is rewarding. Helping the clients to trust other people's motives, in particular authorities motives, is one of the most challenging issues for the therapist. Therefore, when the clients begin to trust you and share their most inner experiences with you, you feel privileged and indeed rewarded.

-Betty

Although researchers have tended to focus on the negative effects of working with traumatized clients, namely VT, participants described many different ways that their work lead to positive changes and personal growth. Both positive and negative effects, as a result of their interaction with survivor clients, have changed participants' attitudes about human potentials forever. For example, participants had become more aware of

the human resiliency and potential. Like other participants, Kathy was marveled by the ways that many clients faced their ordeal, and yet emerged on the other side as stronger people.

The amount of human strength and resilience to overcome multiple traumata...the ability of these women to live a healthy and productive life, despite having come from tremendous difficult circumstances....seeing these women and their family grow, settle and start a new life in Canada has been a rewarding experience for me. -Kathy

Participants repeatedly indicated that working with survivor of torture clients was meaningful and enriching. They felt privileged to witness clients' strength and resilience through their healing process. Nevertheless, participants also described their struggles and difficulties as they worked with survivor client.

## Impact of Working with Survivors of Torture

The second thematic clusters presented here concern the impact of working with survivors of torture. In this section, information is presented in two parts. The first part which I call preliminary effects includes participants' spontaneous responses to my inquiry about the impact of working with survivor clients. The second part is subtitled symptoms of secondary traumatic stress and provides excerpts of participants' responses related to their professional and personal experience of various symptoms at cognitive, emotional, behavioral, physical and spiritual levels.

#### Preliminary Effects

Although I originally asked the participants about the impact of their work with survivor of torture clients at the personal and the professional levels, their responses suggested that the personal and professional roles were interconnected; and it was misleading to describe them as two unrelated experiences. According to all participants, there really could not be separation between their jobs and their personal lives. The social justice issues they dealt with at work were part of their personal values.

The following excerpts present the impact of hearing graphic and painful stories of clients for participants. The impact tended to be on the professional, cognitive, emotional and spiritual levels. On the professional level, participants expressed how their lack of cross-cultural training and experience with refugees who are survivors of torture brought about a sense of doubt about their competency. On the emotional level, the traumatic stories of the clients, evoked feelings of helplessness, anxiousness and pain. Effects on the spiritual level, brought about a sense of renewal, a search for inner life, and an increase in reflection about the self and God. The cognitive effects included a change in the perception of the self and the world as well as a disturbance in cognitive schemas about the negative side of humanity.

Impact on the professional level. Participants talked about feelings of frustration and inadequacy when dealing with cross-cultural issues, role overload as well as conflicting feelings between professional role boundaries and personal values. The complexity of clients' traumatic responses and the challenges of understanding them in the clients' cultural context was overwhelming and difficult even for experienced therapists like Kathy, Jim, Joan, Debra and John who had worked with a relatively large number of survivor of torture clients. These participants and others with less experience felt the limitations of their intervention techniques and skills when counseling their culturally different clients. They believed that existing North-American template did not suit the needs of their culturally different clients.

Our template that we use for Western White doesn't necessarily fit the cultures that we are going to be working with, more and more in the future. -Heather

Lack of cross-cultural interviewing protocols, assessment protocols and counseling protocols. **-John** 

Participants believed that when working with survivors of torture, the therapeutic approach could not be limited to one school of thought; rather, it must be based on the individual client's experience, losses, and needs within his or her cultural context.

participants discussed the need to develop a greater framework for understanding the issues of traumatized clients who are culturally different and in particular refugees who are survivors of torture.

I find a lot of times the sessions can be very draining because I am really searching for, especially when it is in a cross-cultural context, I am searching very hard for what works for this person within their cultural context. -Mary

Nearly all participants dealt with the issue of professional competency and believed that therapists lacked adequate training, expertise and support to deal with the unique issues of refugees who have been traumatized with torture.

I think that we have a very big issue on our hands in Calgary. We have a lot of families coming in from war countries and I don't think that a lot of us, including myself are appropriately trained and ready to deal with that and I think this is a challenge to the counseling community in Calgary. -Kathy

Participants were considerably challenged because there were so many factors that they had to take into account in working with survivor clients, which were different than in their traditional practice with other clients. They needed to be aware of all variables that were influencing their clients. For example, cultural value differences, clients' lack of trust, language barriers, and most of all the complexity of trauma therapy; all of that they had to take into account throughout the therapy.

When this person doesn't trust anyone, has no language, it is one thing for us to get the information but it is quite another for us to make it safe for those individuals to actually see us let alone anyone else. -Heather

There is a sense of overwhelmness when you are dealing with clients who have had multiple traumatic experience in a fairly long period of time. You ask yourself, where do I begin? Do I focus on the post- or current trauma? It is how you put the pieces of the puzzle together that can be very overwhelming professionally. It can also be overwhelming personally, because our work is extremely personal. People might say that, if they are very professional, it doesn't

## affect them. I don't believe that at all (she chuckles). -Kathy

Participants frequently found themselves fulfilling different roles than of a supportive therapist in order to help their clients. For example, in addition to helping clients to deal with their emotional and psychological issues, Betty shifted roles from being a supportive counselor to a settlement and/or crisis counselor. She had to step out of her traditional supportive role and help clients with their basic and instrumental needs such as housing, medical care and employment. Subsequently, she felt overwhelmed with the additional and conflicting responsibilities.

Before I could do the counseling I had to step out of my role as a counselor and help them with settlement issues....basically just like you work with a little kid. You have to hold their finger and I had to take them to places and hook them with other agencies. -Betty

Like Betty, Debra and Joan, other participants believed that their therapeutic approach had to be as involved and engaged as possible without violating therapist-client boundaries. However, keeping personal and professional values in harmony with professional boundaries was a challenge and at times a dilemma for participants.

I cannot leave her until I help her to feel safe, until I ground her....These types of sessions took a lot out of me, and it is no wonder I felt burnout. I go home feeling like not doing anything and just sitting there on the couch and not making supper or look after my own kids. -Betty

One of the things that has helped me is just being myself and not worrying about the old school of thought of not feeling, keeping a distance or not getting involved....you don't do anything when you do that. Like if you are yourself and you show them 'yes it was painful' and I can see your pain [crying]-Debra

Not forgetting that I am a helper and in the first place, I must be in my mind not my heart. -Joan

At times most of us may find our attitudes and personality are incompatible with the expectations of our assigned roles. Maintaining personal and professional boundaries

was even a greater dilemma for Betty who provided house visits to some of her refugee clients. She continuously struggled with the major task of bringing her personal, political, and spiritual ideals into harmony with the boundaries of her job.

I fall into situations where they really needed the help of the doctor and had no means of traveling, so I say to myself 'should I take the sick child to the hospital or should I say, you wait until I phone and ask someone from another agency come and take you there'. So it was always the dilemma of checking with myself and lots of times my personal side and not my professional side wins; so I drive them in my car knowing that I don't have special insurance to drive clients in my car. -Betty

All of the participants described a deliberate process of compartmentalizing their professional and personal identities; however, their personal feelings were not constrained by a compartmentalized professional identity. On the whole, the impact of being more personal and genuine in their work was described as satisfying and as a major contributing factor to their own personal and professional growth.

Impact on the cognitive level. As a result of their exposure to the realities of traumatic materials, participants experienced some internal strife including a disruptive and painful change of the perception about the self, others and the world. For example, their cognitive schemas about safety, trust and humanity were greatly disrupted by continuous exposure to the realities of people's cruelty to one another. Most of the time, they responded with a sense of disbelief and horror.

I walk down the street or I notice people who I believe to be of a different culture....and thinking more on a level of 'gosh this person may be walking around with an incredible wound that perhaps can or cannot be touched....living in a country where the very people whom you should be able to turn to, to keep you safe from being battered in your own home....the very people who have in fact, violated and battered or tortured and killed you or members of your family. -Heather

They were tortured so badly, they had electrical lines on their legs, they had hanged them upside down for twenty-four hours, they had constantly beaten them with a stick on their legs....and how that gives you a feeling of how people have to do this to the same mankind ?-Betty

The use of metaphor "digest" was Rose's unique way of describing her experience as a process that influenced her entire being. She needed ample time as well as conscious efforts in order to make sense of her new awareness.

I couldn't believe that something like that could happen today. We are almost at the beginning of the 21st century and yet a human being can use rape as a tool to harm another human being....I needed time to just digest it....because your whole body, your whole life involved in that. -Rose

Participants found themselves paying more attention to their own values, and attitudes. They found that being exposed to a different world-view encouraged an openness to differences in values. They were challenged to reflect on their own assumptions about what it meant to be human. This included looking at many previously unexamined assumptions and values which they inevitably brought to their work but were challenged by their clients experiences. This personal exploration led to a greater levels of flexibility of their beliefs and values about a just world, human goodness, safety and security.

This really challenges my view of the world, the idea that the world can be socially psychotic but an agreed upon thing in which, the most outrageous of that are utterly normalized, rewarded, paid for...how come people can do these profoundly destructive things and then apparently carry on as fairly normal human beings you know, in the absence of psychopathology, in the absence of craziness, how can these things occur? That to me is one of the big dilemmas. -John

To hear someone talking about living in a country where even their very home and the very rights we take for granted are not honored. It is a whole other invasion, similar but different to someone who has had other kinds of trauma like sexual abuse. Boundaries that are crossed....people who live in countries where they can be tortured at any time or violated at any time....There is no heaven in other words. -Heather

Learning about, understanding, and working with survivor clients was a difficult professional and personal experience. How participants felt and how they viewed their survivor clients was very important in their work because it had an implication in how they viewed themselves, others and the world around them.

There are people in this world that would be so cruel and would enact these sorts of things and yet there are people who survive it. So I think that is the hardest part for me, listening to the stories and seeing the struggle that people continue to go through given their experiences. -Susan

Working with survivor clients confronted participants with the harsh reality of human potential for committing atrocious acts. Participants described how their belief and values about a safe and just world was affected negatively and changed for ever. With their awareness came about a sense of vulnerability. It was evident that participants were affected deeply and experienced a variety of conflicting thoughts and intense emotions that were quite similar to those variously cited in the literature on burnout and VT. For instance, participants found themselves feeling shocked, angry, powerless, sad, guilty, and anxious and at times even numbed in reaction to the perpetrators of violence in the world. Consequently, they felt intense empathy for the pain survivors had to endure.

Impact on the emotional level. Therapy with survivors confronted participants with the harsh, painful reality of cruelty and inhumane acts. Counseling survivor of torture clients raised intense and complex feelings as well as a deep sense of empathy in participants. Yet, empathy became a source of vulnerability to emotional pain. Hearing survivors' painful stories as well as empathizing with them, participants experienced strong emotional reactions including disillusionment, shock, hurt and, anger at people and societies that could commit such horrible and atrocious acts.

If you have any empathy, it hurts you at the very core of your being that is hard to talk about [long silence in order to manage emotions]. I sort of see myself as a pencil or an

instrument through which people speak, so when I am talking to others, and I am relaying experiences that I have heard from people who have undergone torture or trauma and I am trying to get the message across and to let them know how this feels, I like to let them know in the words of the person; how they described it, and sometimes that is really difficult to get through; it is even difficult to read the words. Because it hits you in a place that is so deep and so painful that, I don't really know how to deal with that all the time. -Susan

The torture, the bad times they went through....the physical torture....feeling that you don't belong anymore to the community because your spouse or your father or your mother or yourself belong to someone who is from the other religious group so people just look at you different; you are not accepted anymore, your personal values, your personality is limited to your ethnic background and it's, it's hard. -Jim

Participants spoke easily about the most difficult aspects of their job while working with survivor clients. For nearly all of the participants, memories of certain narratives brought about intense emotions of anger, sorrow, hurt, shock and fear.

I find myself getting really angry at people who deny....

I have a hard time with people who deny even that it happens or that it matters -John

At the beginning it was very hard because I also felt helpless. I felt that there wasn't anything I could do. I was almost taking the role they were taking. The role of 'oh I can't help you, oh I can't help her; but what do I do?' and then it affected me a lot like emotionally I would just go home and cry, cry, cry, cry. -Debra

You can feel pain [emotional pain], you can feel it through your heart to your leg. -Rose

The impact of these people's pain sometimes stays with you after you go home. -Betty

Feelings of disbelief, shock and fear was a common experience for participants as they listened to the stories of survivor clients. Listening to clients' horror stories of violence and torture created a sense of fear and vulnerability to violence in participants It is always shocking to hear the horrible things that happen to people. I don't think I'll ever get desensitized to that, and probably shouldn't anyway. -Heather

It is a shocking moment to hear their stories. -Joan

I was shocked the first time....how could this happen, how could somebody do this to another human being. - Debra

Well I think it's always hard to hear the stories, to a certain degree....hearing about the atrocities that humans commit against other humans. Sometimes I have felt like..., I am a bit tense about going into the interview. It's like I don't know if I want to hear all of this awful stuff.... to work to bring them [clients]out of that depression and despair, to begin that, is very draining, you know. -Mary

In the beginning I felt a sense of fear which I hadn't felt before. Living as women, we may feel fear for a variety of reasons. For example, fear of violence, or fear of trusting authorities in the case of a woman who has been assaulted. It was the awareness of what human beings are capable of doing that made me fearful. With my awareness came a sense of reality and vulnerability. I started to internalize my clients' experiences and say to myself 'my God what a horrifying situation,' so I had to work through those feelings as well. -Kathy

Becoming aware about other people's trouble and suffering will be more emotionally stressful if the trouble has personal relevance to the helper. As participants thought and felt "it could be me or my loved ones" they found it easier to empathize with the survivors as well as experience similar symptoms as their clients.

As participants experienced feelings of shock and disbelief, they became more aware of human vulnerability to violence. They experienced a deep sense of loss of their way of life. Subsequently, an increased attention and search for the meaning of life and suffering was a common experience for the participants.

Impact on the spiritual and religious level. Working with survivor clients stimulated a deeper encompassing self-reflection than participants' mainstream practices had. They

saw individuals who persevered in order to overcome their trauma and to reestablish their lives. They saw that over time, clients dealt with their fear, anger, confusion and sadness and emerged with more confidence, pride and happiness. Participants discovered that people can be more resilient than they had ever dreamt of. Subsequently they experienced a kind of spiritual transformation from feelings of sadness and anger to hope, joy and a renewed sense of purpose and meaning of life.

I am always renewed by the incredible human spirit, the strength of the human spirit that I see, that people can go through these incredibly traumatic experiences and come out the other end and still be decent, loving individuals....when you are having your own rough days....to think about them in context of somebody who has had to walk for months across mountains to escape something in bare feet. I mean that, those images I hold in my mind to give me strength on the days that I don't want to go on.-Susan

see the beauty or the nice part of life. Doing this kind of work, dealing with survivors of torture, makes me feel more down to earth as individual, more realistic about what life is, and how life can affect people. -Joan

However, nearly all participants were confronted with their conflicting thoughts about the existence of a kind and just God who could observe such atrocities and unjust acts silently and passively. Participants described how they felt angry and betrayed by a God who they had been believing and trusting for many years.

First of all, I thought 'why does God do this on the earth; why does he have to bring violence and injustice in people's lives?' They don't need this, and I began to wonder about God's intention after all. I began to wonder if there is God -Betty

It has made me reassess or question human nature, and human capacity. I say to myself 'my God, you know human beings are able to do that [torture] to each other' and of course, working with women, you see that women end up being prey to sexual violence in a situation like war or political violence. So I find this very difficult to deal with and at times it can make me question God. How low can people go? How far will they

go to harm others?.... How can there be a God? What is the meaning of life?....I think over time as clinicians we either work it out for ourselves, or we get out of the field. -Kathy

Paradoxically, Betty and Kathy also began to compare their own life's blessings with those of their clients and became grateful to the same God who was unjust to their clients

I personally felt that I was thankful to God for giving me a good life and giving me a chance to be in a safe country where I don't have to worry about my life, my husband's life or my children's life. -Betty

A greater sense of appreciation for national peace....It does make you think twice and kind of feel happy to be here [in Canada]. -Kathy

An understanding of trauma lies in recognizing the duality of human thoughts and feelings. As participants blamed God for clients' pain and suffering, they experienced tension and despair about humanity and life. On the other hand, focusing on God's kindness and blessings enabled participants to maintain a sense of peace and hope about life.

### Symptoms of Secondary Traumatic Stress

In order to understand participants' experience of VT and various symptoms (manifestations) related to it, they were shown two tables listing personal and professional impact of secondary traumatic stress. Thus, the reader will find some overlap between the content of this discussion and the narratives in the previous section (e.g., emotions of shock, anger, and depression).

Early in their work with survivors of torture clients, nearly all participants experienced behavioral symptoms related to VT such as nightmares and exhaustion. Their exhaustion manifested itself in feelings of confusion, overwhelmness and burdened with their job. Cognitively, they found themselves flooded with many of the torture scenes clients had described to them. The flashback of torture images resulted in

difficulty to concentrate effectively. Participants also experienced feelings of self-doubt and struggled with a sense of incompetency. They questioned the value of their work and the effectiveness of their skills and abilities to help survivor clients. Physical symptoms were also experienced. For example, Participants reported headaches, stomach pains and irregular heart beats.

In addition to their more immediate response, participants' work with survivors had a long range impact on them as individuals and therapists. From a personal standpoint, they found that witnessing to survivors pain had touched them in much deeper way than books or workshops on the horrors of organized violence and torture. Subsequently they questioned the meaning of life and God.

When participants were shown Yassen (1995) list of symptoms associated with secondary traumatic stress, they pointed out specific symptoms in the tables and reported others within a narrative framework. Most of these symptoms were previously reported in the preliminary enquiry and therefore, will be presented without many additional commentaries. Participants' reported symptoms are grouped according to the typology of impact of secondary traumatic stress suggested by Yassen (1995).

## Cognitive Symptoms

As participants pointed out at symptoms and described their experience, it appeared that they have experienced many of the well-known post-traumatic symptoms such as flashback of images, diminished concentration, self-doubt and others listed by Yassen (1995).

<u>Flashback of images</u>. For some participants, listening to clients' graphic stories of pain and suffering created visual flashback of images of violent and atrocious acts.

Cognitively, I think the flashback of images will fit, however, not because this person [client] is describing in great detail the images, but that I would extrapolate from anything I had read or heard or even visually seen or portrayed in a movie. -Heather

In the beginning I remember having difficulty with what I like to term 'vicarious flashbacks' and so after a session, I would be imagining the horror that someone has recounted to me. I imagine that is what is termed trauma imagery by researchers. - Kathy

<u>Diminished concentration</u>. Some participants experienced reduced levels of concentration (immediately after listening to clients' narratives) because they felt overwhelmed with clients' stories of pain and suffering.

There might have been some decrease in concentration, perhaps immediately after having seen this person. The next client after that person might have, and I have some repercussions where I found myself thinking about the situation this person had first told me about, and having that interfere with the second client. -Heather

Self-doubt. Looking at the symptoms of secondary traumatic stress, Susan and Rose recognized feelings of self-doubt and questioned their professional competency to deal with the issues of refugee clients who were survivors of torture. In addition, not knowing the outcome of the counseling, Rose questioned the value of her work and its effectiveness.

Under cognitive I would think self-doubt comes up 'Do I have the ability to work with this population? Do I have the ability to speak for this population? -Susan

Self-doubt, because you begin to ask yourself 'am I doing something good or not?' You cannot see the progress after a few session or after a few months so you began to wonder if you are suited to work in this profession. -Rose

Whirling thoughts. A few participants became considerably preoccupied with the thoughts of survivors' stories.

Whirling thoughts -Jim

<u>Confusion</u>. Participants experienced a sense of confusion as they listened to stories of violence and cruelties of one human being against another one.

Confusion as to why people do this [act of violence] to other human beings. -Betty

## **Emotional Symptoms**

Feeling shocked. One of the most difficult learning experiences for participants was the awareness that people could intentionally do worse things to each other than they could imagine. As they listened to their clients, participants stroved to stay calm and contain their shock and revulsion.

Of course some shock. It is always shocking to hear the horrible things that happen to people. I don't think I'll ever get desensitized to that and probably shouldn't anyway.

-Heather

I was shocked first time. How could this happen? How could somebody do this to another human being? -Debra

The initial periods of shock and disbelief were easily turned to feelings of anger and rage.

Anger and rage. As participants listened empathically to survivor's graphic stories of pain and suffering, they experienced feelings of anger and rage towards perpetrators who could intentionally inflict pain on other human beings.

Definitely anger and rage. Rage and anger at the inhumanity of man to man. That makes me really angry, not anger at a specific person or at a regime; rather angry at the human spirits that would allow this kind of stuff to happen. Sometimes overwhelmed with the scope of the problem, with the scope of the trauma the people have experienced.-Susan

I don't really relate to these things [pointing at all listed symptoms]. I tend to feel more angry. -Mary

overwhelmed probably because of imagining coming from that kind of a situation and having to deal with that and going into other situations which were highly abusive, and having to imagine how overwhelming that would feel, how would you separate those things out....that's a hard one sometimes.

-Heather

Participants described how their feelings of anger and rage at perpetrators gradually turned to feelings of powerlessness and sadness as they felt helpless to influence perpetrators or the situation.

Feelings of powerlessness, anxiety, sadness and depression. One of the stressors that affect therapists and other human care-givers is a lack of control over client outcome. In addition to their lack of control of client's therapeutic outcome, believing that they had no control to affect the client's social and political systems created strong feelings of powerlessness in the participants.

Emotionally, a lot of these things come up, a feeling of powerlessness. -Susan

Sometimes I have this feeling [powerlessness] and I say to myself 'why do I feel like this? You see I alone can't change the world the way I want to....we have to be as a society all together fight against the cruelty. The second reason that I justify my powerlessness is the fact that you do have limitations according to your [job] mandate, limitations about what to do and how to help an individual and so on and those are jurisdiction things. I mean you can go against them, and sometimes I feel like I can't help more than I'm helping. The other thing to justify my powerlessness is the fact that, it doesn't matter how much professional skills you have. You are a, social worker, psychologist, a doctor or whatever; this kind of job does need a team work. This individual [client] is not suffering just from mental health issues where a psychologist can practice his skills or not only medical issues where a doctor can do his job, but it's a complex [variety] of things. I am just by myself sometimes and I feel powerlessness. -Joan

Yes, I felt powerless. I felt that I wish I had the power to fix things in this people's life because, when you hear about the pain they are going through, whether you are a therapist or not a therapist, the human inside feels that, how can you help those people, how you can make it better you know. -Betty

## Powerlessness, sadness, depression. - Debra

Participants talked about the importance of autonomy and personal control and loss of it as they struggled to come to term with their lack of control over perpetrators' atrocious acts. They felt that there was not much they could do to prevent or stop these atrocities from happening in the world.

Guilt, shame, and hopelessness. Another sub-theme that appeared throughout the interview was the experience of guilt, shame and hopelessness as participants felt helpless to take actions to effect (reduce or eliminate) pain and suffering in the world.

Guilt, it is an interesting thing....not personal guilt, but the guilt of our generation and what could we do if we could do anything. To stop it? -Jim

When your are dealing with survivors of torture, it is difficult to label your feelings as shame or guilt because it is a mixed feeling. **Joan** 

Anxiety and guilt, but it's not a high level of anxiety; sadness and shame. -Rose

Hopelessness, because in some situations the court decides whether they are staying in Canada or not, so as a therapist you feel helpless and hopeless because there is nothing more you can do for them except supporting them and helping them manage day by day -Betty

Participants' feelings of shame, guilt and hopelessness were reflected in a variety of behavioral symptoms.

### Behavioral Symptoms

Participants described a variety of behavioral symptoms as they dealt with their conflicting thoughts and emotions. Many described nightmares that were closely related to their work with torture issues

Nightmares. John went on to tell three different stories to illustrate his struggles with understanding torture issues. John's stories described painful nightmares of his son's torture and his attempts to rescue him.

I understood where he went. I understood that he had disappeared into the hole of torture and that is what had happened to him. So I went over to catch him, to somehow bring him back...so the dream directly connects to my reading of Lifton....I was also reading literature on the impact of war on children. -John

Impatience. Many participants felt impatient and angry at the slow pace of progress to effect refugees' lives. They were particularly annoyed with the lack of follow up at governmental levels.

How slow we move to impact the way to help people going through this; I think that we have known what some of the issues are for a long time. For example, Report of the Canadian Task Force on Mental Health Issues Affecting Immigrant Refugees in Canada came up in 1988, the recommendations were there and the political will wasn't there so nothing gets done, and so that makes me impatient and probably angry too. -Susan

Exhaustion. Participants described how they experienced emotional and physical exhaustion as they dealt with the issue of torture and its detrimental effects on clients' lives.

I would say exhaustion but I can't say that that's completely right just for this issue, like it might be kind of my exhaustion comes from just working in this area to begin with because it's so huge and there are so many pieces out of it that are important and hard to get at and you get tired of doing this work from time to time. -Susan

very tired, exhaustion, I felt I couldn't even go home, after some of the sessions. -Debra

### Physical Symptoms

Participants' internal experience of stress, gradually was manifested in a range of physical symptoms.

Stomach pains, headache and rapid heart-beat. In addition to emotional pain, some participants also experienced physical pain and suffering.

I know when I am hearing stories and I'll have physical reactions, I'll have stomach pains or get a headache sometimes for listening to it. My heart will beat erratically, but that is just when I am actually hearing the stories, or if I am repeating a story sometimes that will happen -Susan

A headache every time I lest the session. -Debra

I did feel tired because it took a lot out of me. -Betty

Participants' awareness of their clients' pain and suffering also impacted their spiritual beliefs.

## Spiritual Impacts

Participants described changes at deeper levels than their physical symptoms. They questioned the meaning of God, life and its value for themselves and others.

## Questioning the meaning of life and anger at God

I have always been, not very religious but very spiritual and then, in working with them and in not trying to convince them but trying to look at the meaning of their lives, it also made me look at the meaning of my own life.

-Debra

questioning the meaning of life. -Joan

Loss of meaning.... Why God does this, and I kind of like lost the trust in God for a while. -Betty.

Questioning the meaning of life and the existence of God is very common for people in our field because if there is God how can these things happen? So I think those are normal prosthesis that we continue to struggle with although not with the same degree of intensity that we questioned them when we first became involved in working with traumatized clients.

-Kathv

The type of learning that participants needed to engage in to answer such questions was a deeply personal one and related to the growth of their soul or "psyche."

Many of post-traumatic stress reactions reported by participants required coping skills that could help them manage these psychological reactions. As I listened to the participants, I became more interested to explore how they coped with the negative impact of their work. In the following section participants' coping strategies are outlined.

# Personal and Professional Coping Strategies

Coping by psychotherapists and counselors is about managing and balancing between professional and personal role demands. As participants of the present study became more aware of the negative impact of their work on their psychological and physical well-being, they used a variety of strategies to cope. For participants managing their work stress involved many dimensions, including psychological, spiritual, physical, family and work adjustment, as well as effective leisure time use.

In this section, I cite excerpts from the narratives of the participants to illustrate a variety of coping methods they used to deal with the impact of working with survivor clients. The coping strategies used by participant are classified according to their problem- or emotion-focused functions. The classification system I used to organize participants' coping strategies are based on Carver, Scheier & Weintraub (1989) and Yassen's (1995) classification of coping strategies.

# Problem-Focused Coping Strategies

Participants used a variety of problem-focused strategies in order to manage the demands of their job directly. These strategies included establishing boundaries, seeking support for instrumental reasons (e.g. information, advice and assistance) and using proactive strategies.

Establishing boundaries. Just as important as building rapport in therapeutic relationship, is the need to maintain appropriate boundaries. For participants, boundaries

simply meant that they knew where the helping relationship ends and the client begins. Most of all, they were mindful not to cross the boundaries of their helping role by attempting to rescue or control the clients.

What you have to learn about being a therapist right from the beginning is how to compartmentalize and in a sense where you can help someone with the problem and where you can't. -Mary

Being clear about personal and professional boundaries for myself as well as the clients....So it was very clear that I was helping them as a therapist, not as a friend. -Betty

I guess in time you develop the ability to in some way separate your professional work and your private life. -Jim

Participants learned the importance of caring for themselves and the wisdom in recognizing their emotional limits. For example, they made sure that their case load did not include a disproportionate number of survivors of torture clients.

It happened in the beginning [of her career] and then I realized that I have to make sure that I space out visiting survivor of torture clients instead of scheduling three or four of them for the same day. -Kathy

Scheduling clients in a way that I see them on alternate weeks, so I avoid feeling worn-out and burnout with all the stress of the work. -Betty

Participants also discussed the importance of mindfulness and awareness of their own values and beliefs. This in turn helped them to maintain a balance between their personal and professional roles.

We might have different beliefs about violence, different stands about the situation, but our own beliefs, expectations and stands should not be reflected in the therapy....I had to be very careful, making sure that none of my own beliefs are reflected on the way I do therapy with them. -Betty

Now you have another role, you have to gain whatever strength you have and do the job....this person needs your help, so the better you do your job, the more improved he or

#### she will be - Joan

Realizing their limits in dealing with survivors' issues was important as well as humbling. It was important for participants to remind themselves that they could not erase clients' past pain or prevent their future encounters with suffering. However, they could help clients to make appropriate judgments and decision for their current lives.

we are not responsible for what has happened. We are also not responsible for any decision they are going to make in the future....We must trust that they can make their own judgment and decisions. -Betty

All participants stated that recognizing their professional limitations while maintaining ethical standards was a task that became easier with experience. However, they also acknowledged the potential for role confusion and the inevitable tension it generated was inherent in the treatment of survivor clients.

Seeking instrumental support. According to participants, an integral part of their work with culturally different clients involved understanding the historical, cultural, political and socioeconomic context of the clients. Participants continuously made efforts to acquire more knowledge about their clients' political and sociocultural issues as well as to enhance their understanding about the effects of torture on clients. This in turn helped them to design more helpful interventions for clients.

Educating myself about war and its impact. For example, how to deal with the grief, or how to deal with sociological horrifying things that are involved. -John

Reading more about the area....Gaining a better understanding empowers the therapists. -Heather

If I feel that it is hanging on a long time for whatever reason then I would read something specific about that.

-Heather

Seeking information and educating myself about other's political and sociocultural factors. -Mary

Joan told me that reading related literature helped her to understand some of her own psychological responses to clients' stories better.

The literature does provide me with feedback, it mirrors certain work experiences of mine....it helps me to see what to expect in certain situations and how to deal with them. ...the literature helps me to understand why I might experience feelings of guilt.-Joan

In addition to taking steps to educate themselves, participants also asked for advice, direction, suggestion, or feedback from other colleagues.

Talk to somebody or share my thoughts with someone and get support around that. -Heather

Seeking support from colleagues, friends and family members.... because they help you to see different pictures. -Rose

Sometimes I ask my colleagues for professional advice during personal leisure visits-Jim

Well, I can say that even if I did have another profession, I would be impacted by the things that happened over there because of circumstances, but somehow I managed to gain some help from the people that I am working with.—Jim

Consult with colleagues about how to handle a situation.-Joan

Debriefing with a colleague; someone else who is bound by the same confidentiality. -Betty

Collegial support provided participants with reassurance and validation. It also enabled them to obtain different perspectives on issues that they were struggling with.

Using proactive strategies. When we experience social injustice we may become social activists by taking active roles in order to influence the problem itself. This was true for participants who have coped with their frustration and sense of helplessness by developing proactive strategies. For example, they volunteered their professional expertise and services to survivors of torture through Calgary Catholic Immigration Society programs. Participants described how their efforts as social activists helped them

to manage feelings of frustration, powerlessness and helplessness as they were able to make public statements in support of survivors and let the public know about what was happening. Through their direct involvement they maintained a sense of hope and purpose in their work.

To find out more about it, to find out what people need and find ways to help them out....because if I feel that I have done something to help then that removes some of the anxiety for me in terms of these people being left out there, hanging in the wind basically. -Susan

When I was young I was quite politicized, so I was around a lot of refugees....looking at the torture and understanding that there were great acts of cruelty in the world seems to have been around forever with me....for me the act of witnessing was part of the psychologists role....to open our mouths about what we see, and if psychologists help people to tell secrets, then the act of witnessing for psychologists means you describe back to the world, to hold up a mirror to the world, of what it is and how it does things and how the actions especially in the public arena affect individuals. -John

There is nothing implied in participants' statements that suggest they are reacting to their emotions. They did not appear to be at the mercy of their emotions such as anger, and depression; rather, they faced the problems and took actions to cope with their intense psychological reactions by becoming involved and taking helpful actions.

Emotion-Focused Coping Strategies

Participants became engaged in a variety of emotion-focused strategies to manage or prevent their negative emotions from overwhelming them. They recognized feelings of anger, sadness and helplessness and the need for dealing with them. Most of these strategies involved behavioral and cognitive efforts.

Self-care and self-nurturing behaviors. There is a large number of small acts of self-nurturing behaviors that can serve to cultivate a more caring relationship with

ourselves and subsequently with people around us. For participants, successful coping with their work related stresses, especially those experienced daily, involved making life style changes that prevented further stress and at the same time promoted enhanced states of well-being. Just as participants offered a variety of small gestures of caring and nurturing methods to their clients, they did the same for themselves. All ten participants nurtured themselves through the following simple activities on a daily basis.

Exercise, rest and doing fun things. -Heather

I exercise a lot, five days a week....walking or biking on weekends and take time for me. -Susan

Working out a few times a week, I know that really helped me to burn the energy. -Debra

Eating well, and exercising daily. -Mary

Through favorite physical activities such as swimming I relax. -Rose

Participants were unanimous in stating that it would be difficult to feel good about themselves if they were feeling physically weak, tired, or ill. They acknowledged the role of physiological imbalances often caused by stress and believed that looking after their physical well-being had a direct impact on their psychological well-being.

Taking time to get involved in simple and yet soul nourishing activities was important to all participants. They took time to be with family members and reflect on their daily experiences. These activities helped them to revitalize their minds and bodies.

Gaining pleasure in the family, wife, in the friends, in the work, in the readings and in other areas of life....going fishing with friends or whatever, that sort of shelters from that kind of emotional experience I had.

-Jim

Taking time for myself in order to reflect on the meaning of my experience...and to deal with what goes on

inside me....To digest the whole situation. -Rose

When I go home after four draining sessions, I go home and tell my husband 'I am sorry, I am not cooking supper today, let's all go out because I really feel tired'. -Betty

Engaging in creative endeavors such as gardening and meditating allowed participants to reconnect with their own bodies and mind.

Gardening is one of the most healing things for me....It is wonderfully rejuvenating. -Heather

I engage in yoga and relaxation exercises so I become more focused on life again. -Betty

Kathy also became engaged in writing poetry that helped her to express her inner most feelings.

Self care is extremely important. I go to the gym and work out, sit in a hot tub and just relax and write poetry. I sometimes use writing as a means of catharsis to sort of let out all my feelings. I simply walk outside and let fresh air sort of blow over me.

-Kathy

Participants discussed the importance of understanding and responding to their basic physiological needs. Just as participants helped their clients to find ways to cope with their situations, they reminded themselves to do the same. Participants viewed the conservation of physical and psychological energy as a vital antidote to face the effects of their daily work stress. Through these various techniques they were able to relieve some of the tension associated with their work.

Seeking support for emotional reasons. Often participants did not have to go far to embrace emotional support. Participants' support system included family members and close friends that they could trust and confide in. They were also the ones who accepted participants in all their moods and roles. Their caring and concern as well as their acceptance and respect provided participants with a sense of comfort, reassurance, belonging and love in times of stress.

They are [his children] pretty good healers for me. I try hard not to be clingy or not to suck them....I just sort of go and absorb them you know. -John

Receiving emotional support from my partner. He helps me to put things into perspective. -Kathy

Letting my family know how I feel that day, so they don't expect much from me and know that I might get grouchy if they push me to the limits. My husband and children are very understanding and supportive. -Betty

Family members can play an important and healing role in one's life during the good times and the bad.

In addition to family members' support, participants also talked about the support they received from their friends and colleagues who listened empathically and acknowledge participants' feelings of shock and anger.

If something has really had an impact on me I will go and speak to colleagues or to family members and share that with them so that I could have some support. Even just saying to somebody 'oh my God, imagine going through that kind of scenario.' -Heather

I talk to my husband a lot about it....with my colleagues in the team has also helped me a lot. -Debra

Sometimes I go back to my co-worker and share what I have heard. -Joan

When I hear a really devastating story, I just go and grab a colleague and I tell him, because I think you have to discharge sometimes, because something is just unbelievable -Mary

Some participants' emotional support system included their pets.

I get a lot of strength from my family and friends and animals .... At night you can be in whatever mood you want to be in, but they are [animals] at the door and they are happy; they want to see you and they don't want anything from you except to be hugged or patted....it is just that total acceptance and you don't have to explain anything and you don't have to get involved

plus they get you moving in different ways. My dogs force me to go out walking and playing with them. -Heather

Participants described how turning to family, friends and colleagues for emotional support comforted them when under stress. This, in turn, enabled them to deal with their intense emotional responses adaptively.

Turning to religion and spiritual activities for support. Support for many participants included getting involved in religious and spiritual activities. Spirituality is a belief in a higher power that allows us to make meaning of life and the universe that may or may not be connected to a formal religion. Like many other people, participants were aware of the potential benefits of spirituality as a means for coping with hopelessness and feelings of powerlessness.

Spiritual rituals are in particular a kind of activity that can be important and helpful when they are meaningful to us and we know why we are doing them. For example, Debra told me that some of her clients never had any chance to mourn the loss of their loved ones. Debra found them in extended bereavement; and since they had neither grave sites nor date of death, they did not mourn for the dead. Therefore, she planned spiritual rituals such as lighting a candle, praying and helping clients to give themselves permission to say goodbye to their loved ones and put a closure to their painful memories.

Saying goodbye to them [dead person] and still to allow themselves to remember them and to remember the good things. This was a very important ritual for clients to find a way to process what had happened for them. -Debra

Debra explained that this rituals had two functions. First, it served the psychological purpose of recognizing the continued grief that clients felt. Second, it helped Debra to work through her sense of helplessness and grief as a result of her indirect witnessing of clients' pain and suffering.

Participants coped spiritually in a number of ways. Some found spiritual relief in praying to God while others reflected on the meaning and purpose of life. Participants

had formed a philosophy of life that validated their experience and helped them make sense of the complexities and paradoxes inherent in their jobs. They saw life as both good and bad, hopeful and at the same time sabotaging. It was apparent to me that the participants I interviewed had struggled with this confusion and disharmony and had learned to live with its disparities. Their spiritual tendency had moved them toward a deeper knowledge, love, meaning, hope and compassion as well as a greater level of creativity and growth.

I really try to get grounded, in terms of my philosophic bibs, like one of my assumptions, like what do I believe, what is good, what is bad, what is the purest of beauty. Sometimes that is what I need. Uh, I go back to the things that I collect. I mean I collect glass ....and feathers and I go back and look at them....and I go 'this is very beautiful, this is very beautiful'....so it is just sort of meditations on beauty and meaning. -John

Participants discussed the importance of their "special life purposes" that help them fulfill their religious and spiritual needs and provided them with a sense of completeness. Common examples of these life purposes included raising a family, succeeding in their career and/or making a contribution to their community. For participants, life purpose tended to have two major functions. First it allowed them to feel more complete and whole; and second, it allowed them in some ways to contribute to the betterment of others. For these participants helping others to find their path and regain their strength was a religious and spiritual journey

Purposefulness of what I am doing, feeling of being useful.... The people I am seeing, they give me a lot of support, that gives me a feeling that I am doing a good job. -Jim

My religious morals and values help me to go through many conflicting emotions and difficult times. -Betty

Participants' discussed how their spiritual beliefs, whether formal or informal provided common ground on which they were able to connect with themselves and their

clients more effectively. Their spiritual activities brought them closer to their inner selves. It helped them to experience their emotions and be in touch with their feelings rather than be alienated from themselves.

Focus on emotions and venting of emotions. Nearly all participants admitted that repression of their emotions could deny them the fullness of an empathic therapeutic experience. They felt at ease about expressing their emotions during the therapy while maintaining a balance between their personal issues and those of the clients. For example, expressing anger at the perpetrators of violence, becoming compassionate or tearful when listening to clients' painful stories of torture. They viewed their emotional response as a "normal" reaction to hearing about some "abnormal" events.

I allow myself to feel upset or guilty if I feel that way, because we are human beings and helpful too. I think that the more we accept ourselves the more natural we can be with our responses. -Kathy

Mary explained that expressing her sad emotions appropriately conveyed two important and helpful messages to the clients. First, what had happened to clients was unusual and sad. Second, her crying could normalize clients' sad feelings.

I just let all of my feelings come out, and sometimes I cry when I hear; I don't have a problem with crying with a client, or really expressing my horror. I think that is important to know that someone else is outraged by what has happened. So I think that I am able to work with my feelings at the time -Mary

For John, "keeping a journal" was a helpful and safe way of expressing his emotions.

Learning to own and express strong emotions takes courage and willingness. For these participants being in touch with their emotions (identifying and expressing them) was a way of acknowledging how they felt internally rather than walking around in a cloud of emotions and feeling detached from themselves and others. Their coping efforts helped them from becoming overwhelmed and disillusioned.

Emotional distancing. The term emotional distancing seems to convey an unfriendly and "cold" behavior; however, there is nothing implied in participants' statements that suggests repression of emotions; they rather imply a balance between emotions and cognitions.

I am really good at parceling off my emotion. I would feel it at the time or I'd feel it when I am talking about it, when I go away, I can put that in a separate compartment....I can compartmentalize my emotions quite well. -Susan

To detach myself a little bit from my own personal reaction, because that is not necessarily helpful for the client at the time ....it is more after the fact that I tend to deal with myself.

-Heather

Participants stroved for the ideal mix of compassion and objectivity. Although they were genuinely concerned about clients' welfare, they kept some psychological distance from clients' difficulties.

Acceptance. In addition to emotional distancing, other ways of cognitively coping with stressful emotions were accepting and/or reappraising the events. For most participants, taking responsibility for their jobs also meant accepting what they could not change.

It is part of that role as a psychologist, as a human being. It is part of my responsibility. **-John** 

Accept the fact that in this job you have to be flexible, and by this I mean, developing and changing all the time. -Joan

Participants discussed how difficult it was to look at their personal and professional limitations and acknowledge the extent to which they could overcome them. However, accepting limitations did not mean avoiding challenges associated with their roles.

Rather, it meant finding the grace to learn how to do their jobs as effectively as possible, and attempt to move on the highest level of growth.

Positive reinterpretation. One of the ways that participants coped with their lack of control over their psychological responses was to focus on the positive aspects of an otherwise stressful experience. Participants described how they reappraised the threats of life and instead focused on its empowering aspects. For example, they began to see that the act of organized violence and torture did not solely define the life of the survivors; rather, being survivors of torture was part of their entire life experiences. Such a cognitive reappraisal seemed to be effective in reducing participants' anxiety and pain.

Reminding myself that there are life-giving empowering things in my life as well, and that the world is not all like that. -Heather

Having a good sense of humor because survivor of torture clients are not always walking around and moping. They have wonderful humor too, wonderful strength of the human spirit....I think sometimes we blow up that torture and forget the person.-Susan

Participants took steps to protect and prevent emotional injuries as they entered the emotional world of their clients. One approach to remaining connected with the clients while protecting themselves emotionally was to purposefully remain aware that the person sitting there had survived and he/she now had access to helpful caring other and a hopeful future.

Mental disengagement. Becoming engaged in entertaining cognitive distractions such as watching television, reading books and cooking was another cognitive strategy that participants used in order to mitigate the effects of their stressful situation.

I shut down my mind, so I'll read trashy novels or watch mindless TV. -Susan

I cook a new dish or go shopping sometimes if I am not able to put that [thoughts] out of my mind. -Betty

Behavioral disengagement. Only two participants smoked cigarettes when under extreme stress; however, both clarified that they are not "heavy" smokers.

## **Summary and Conclusion**

All participants described experiencing a variety of intense and uncomfortable emotions. However, through their strength, courage and hope, participants were able to manage, overcome and grow personally and professionally. What they conveyed clearly through sharing their experiences is that they will not allow difficulties of their work interfere with their goals of helping refugee clients who are survivors of torture. Their lives may be touched by their new awareness of pain and suffering, but they will continue to help and enhance the quality of their clients' lives

In the following chapter I integrate the themes identified in the participants' experience with literature on VT and coping. This is followed by the implications of the findings for therapists working with clients who are survivors of trauma, limitations of the findings and directions for future research in the area of vicarious trauma.

#### CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

Those who would be helpful must be willing to be in the presence of sadness and suffering. They must accept that helping does not consist either in making the suffering go away or in bearing the difficult burdens for the one who is suffering. Rather, helping consists of understanding and empathizing with the sufferer and supporting his/her efforts to find the meaning of the suffering and the means to living with it and in its aftermath. (Attig, 1990, p. 54)

Studies of PTSD reveal that many refugees experience severe life threatening traumatic events (e.g., violence, torture) and may require the help of mental health professionals (Bemak & Greenberg, 1994; Jaranson, 1995; Jaranson & Popkin, 1998; Kinzie & Fleck, 1987; Marsella, Friedman, & Spain, 1990; Van Velsen, Gorst-Unsworth & Turner, 1996). The literature on trauma therapy also suggests that mental health caregivers working with survivors of trauma may be affected vicariously and experience distressful reactions similar to those of their clients' PTSD symptoms (Figley, 1995; Kinzie & Boehnlein, 1993; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Meichenbaum, 1994; Stamm, 1995). This study explored (a) how therapists were impacted by their work when dealing with traumatized refugee clients who are survivors of torture and (b) how they coped with the impact of trauma work.

The general findings of this study indicate that all participants experienced enduring distress related to secondary exposure to trauma as reflected in a variety of emotional, cognitive, behavioral, spiritual, and physiological responses. The findings also show that participants used a variety of emotion- and problem-focused coping strategies to deal with their distressful experiences. Overall, the results of this phenomenological study provide qualitative support for the notion of VT. First, therapists working with traumatized clients who are survivors of torture are themselves vulnerable to the

experience of vicarious effects. Second, empathy appears to play a significant role in the development of VT.

In this chapter the current literature on VT and coping is integrated with identified themes related to the participants' experiences when working with survivor clients. It includes a discussion of precipitating variables that can lead to the development of VT, the impact of VT on the participants, and the various ways of coping. This is followed by a discussion of limitations of the study and directions for future research. Finally, a discussion of the implications of this study for education and training of therapists working with traumatized clients in general and survivors of torture clients in particular is presented.

## Motivating Factors for Working with Survivors of Torture

Therapists are expected to be caring, concerned, warm, committed and empathic individuals. Moreover, their job requires them to use interpersonal skills and be understanding, calm and objective while dealing with intimate information (Cormier & Cormier, 1998; Maslach, 1982; Rogers, 1980). However, these characteristics may have important implications for the effects of VT. Although seeing and understanding issues from the clients' perspectives (cognitive and emotional empathy) is expected to enable therapists to provide a better care, the vicarious experience to clients' emotional pain can increase therapists' vulnerability to a variety of emotional responses (Figley, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Stamm, 1995). Repeated empathic engagement with clients' traumatic stories during trauma therapy tend to transform therapists' inner experiences and heighten their vigilance and sense of responsibility (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995).

It appears that therapists' capacity for caring and the desire to help is one of the most motivating factors leading them to do trauma work. A recurrent theme emphasized by all participants in this study was their sense of compassion and responsibility for clients' welfare and well-being. One participant illustrated this point when she described her

work values as an "extension" of her personal values. This finding supports the view that a combination of the characteristics of the helping role (aspects of the work situation) and the therapist's characteristics such as empathy tends to precipitate VT.

In addition to compassion and empathy, participants in this study were also motivated by many positive and rewarding aspects including personal and professional enrichment.

## Rewarding Aspects of Trauma Work

Research has tended to focus on the negative effects of trauma therapy on therapists, giving less attention to the rewarding aspects of trauma therapy (McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Figley, 1995). However, the present study reveals that there are many positive aspects that motivate professionals to work with traumatized clients. The findings show that participants experienced a high degree of personal and professional growth and satisfaction that motivated them to continue working with survivor clients. Participants of this study described their work as "rewarding" and "enlightening". The most frequently mentioned positive aspects of working with survivors were seeing clients change and adapt to their current lives, contributing to the clients healing process, recognizing the human spirit and resiliency to overcome "multiple trauma", and being "trusted" and "appreciated" by the clients. These findings are consistent with the Schauben & Frazier's (1995) study of female counselors working with sexual violence survivors. They also reported positive aspects of working with survivors such as watching clients grow and change, helping clients on their journey of healing, seeing human creativity and strength, and learning more about themselves.

In sum, the rewarding aspects of trauma therapy by participants support the observation of Kassam-Adams (1995) that "undoubtedly, many therapists find that working with survivors of trauma is meaningful and rewarding, and they are truly privileged to witness clients' strength and resilience in the healing process." (p. 38).

### The Issue of Countertransference in Vicarious Trauma

Countertransference may contribute to the development of VT through identification with traumatized clients (Figley, 1995). Wilson and Lindy (1994) pointed out that in countertransference, therapists might react by overidentifying with the clients' issues, withdrawing from or avoiding the client. In addition to identification with clients, it seems that countertransference can increase therapists' vulnerability to VT because of their emotional reactions to clients' painful stories (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995).

In their discussion of countertransference, Pearlman & Saakvitne (1995) differentiate between traditional definition of countertransference and when it is experienced by trauma therapists. Traditionally, countertransference refers to reactions of the therapists to unresolved conflicts through the process of interpersonal involvement with the clients' issues. However, countertransference in VT is considered as a "normal" reaction (e.g., anger, horror, grief, guilt, shame) to the painful feelings, images, and thoughts associated with awareness of the clients' trauma material.

Because counseling clients who are survivors of torture often involves sensitive political and social issues, contertransference feelings can easily lead to ethical issues and dilemmas. For example, participants in this study experienced a broad range of countertransference feelings from horror to admiration for clients' ability and strength to survive. They often questioned their own humaneness and professional role when they experienced hatred or anger at repulsive acts of perpetrators of torture. Although dealing with their emotional responses was frequently difficult in working with survivor clients, participants were particularly aware of their emotional reactions and expressions. Participants' experience with countertransference did not appear to produce any work related difficulties in the therapeutic alliance (e.g., withdrawing from clients, or becoming enmeshed in clients' issues). One explanation of their ability to manage emotional reactions is given by one participant when he stated that "checking the compulsion to help, and the compulsion to confess one's own feelings" is vital in any

therapeutic relationship. Moreover, participants' professional training may have sensitized them to issues of countertransference. They recognized the role of emotional reactions to clients as an important factor in the therapeutic relationship that could have positive or negative effects on therapy's outcome. It is interesting to note that therapists who recognize and deal with countertransference are better able to manage their emotional exhaustion (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995).

In sum, the current findings and previous research on empathy and countertransference indicate that it is important for therapists to become aware of and not cross the boundaries between personal involvement and professional caring.

Impact of Working with Survivors of Torture

Counseling refugees who are survivors of torture places special demands on therapists and can create conflicting thoughts and feelings. It is through the therapeutic relationship that therapists face the reality of an "unjust world" and have to acknowledge its existence. According to Saakvitne & Pearlman, (1996) VT is "an occupational hazard and....a human consequence of knowing, caring, and facing the reality of trauma" (p. 25). Following the clients' recounting of traumatic events, therapists may experience a variety of psychological distress and undergo many changes in their cognitive schemas. The descriptive statements provided by participants in this study revealed that the impact of the participants' work is pervasive.

## Impact at the Professional Level

Counseling traumatized survivors who are culturally different is especially challenging for therapists and requires a combination of culturally sensitive skills and goals. In a discussion of professional multicultural competence in counseling and therapy, Sue & Sue (1999) suggest that therapists understand the (a) sociopolitical forces that have affected the minority clients; (b) cultural and language barriers that may influence effective therapy; and (c) the importance of clients' world-view and their own belief systems in the helping process. It is clear that counseling refugees who are

survivors of torture is likely be more complex and require high degree of sensitivity and understanding of clients' psychological realities as well as their history of trauma and loss. However, training and supervision in counseling and psychotherapy have seldom addressed multicultural counseling issues that involve refugee experiences (Alpert & Paulson, 1990; Bernak, Chung & Bornemann, 1996; Pope & Feldman-Summers, 1992). Participants in this study who had faced a number of cross-cultural issues for which they were not trained and prepared emphasized this point. For example, one of the most commonly reported difficulties by participants was the lack of assessment tools and intervention techniques that would suit the needs of their culturally different clients. This was followed by boundary issues and clients' difficulty in reestablishing trust in authorities.

The challenges to professional boundaries were experienced by participants as tension, and conflicting thoughts and feelings. For example, overwhelmed by the clients' multiple trauma and immediate need for help (e.g., obtaining medical attention for a client's sick child), participants found themselves stepping out of their supportive roles in order to provide instrumental support to their clients. Consequently, they experienced tension and conflicting feelings because their actions were not in harmony with professional standards. However, when working with culturally different clients, the ability to reconceptualize traditional training is vital for effective therapeutic interventions (Bemak et al., 1996). Many refugees flee from communal societies and their expectations of the therapists' helping role (interdependency and social support) may be in conflict with therapists' North-American values of individuality and independency (Sue & Sue, 1990, 1999). In their discussion of counseling and psychotherapy with refugees, Bemak et al. (1996) suggest a multilevel model (MLM) of counseling and psychotherapy, indigenous healing methods, cultural empowerment, and

psychoeducational training. The MLM offers a holistic approach that allows integration of a variety of strategies to meet the multiple needs of refugee clients.

In sum, working with culturally different survivors placed unique and new demands on both the expertise and the personal resources of participants who had not been trained and prepared to deal with cultural issues. Subsequently, they required coping abilities to manage a wide range of intense emotional reactions, cognitive and spiritual changes as well as behavioral symptoms both at personal and professional levels.

## Impact at the Personal Level

Therapists working with traumatized clients may experience symptoms parallel to those of their clients (Allodi, 1990; APA, 1994; Figley, 1995). Vicarious trauma can create symptoms similar to PTSD. In addition, VT can produce changes in belief systems involving loss of a sense of safety and trust, disillusionment and loss of a sense of control (McCann & Pearlman, 1990). The consequence of accumulated VT in the work place can also be feeling of hopelessness and powerlessness (Figley, 1995; Stamm, 1995).

Participants in this study frequently described their feelings of despair and lack of control over clients' pain and suffering. They described their distressing emotions and deep sense of empathy for clients as they listened to graphic descriptions of rape, beating, humiliation, and killing. One participant illustrated this deep sense of empathy when she described that listening to clients' painful stories and empathizing with their suffering hurt her at the very core of her being that is hard to talk about.

As pointed out earlier, participants' deep sense of empathy may have opened them to the experience of a variety of emotional, cognitive, spiritual and behavioral responses. The most commonly described negative emotions among participants were shock, hurt, anger, sadness, guilt and shame resulting in a sense of helplessness and hopelessness. These affective experiences were reflected in participants' (a) cognitive experiences such as flashback of images, diminished concentration, self-doubt and confusion, and (b)

behavioral manifestations such as nightmares, lack of patience with authority and rules as well a physical and emotional exhaustion.

Cognitive impact. According to Saakvitne & Pearlman (1996), a traumatic experience that affects and disrupts individuals' frame of reference or world-view, is experienced as being stressful. McCann & Pearlman's (1990) constructivist self-development theory describes disturbances in therapists' cognitive schema along dimensions of safety, trust, power and vulnerability. The theory suggests that trauma work disrupts individual's cherished beliefs and assumptions about a "just" and "humane" world. It is through the therapeutic contacts with survivors of trauma that therapists come face to face with the reality of existence of horrifying acts committed by one human being against another. This realization can create doubts about previously adaptive assumptions of personal invulnerability and safety in every day life (Janoff-Bullman, 1992).

Consistent with CSDT (McCann & Pearlman, 1990), participants reported experiencing a significant change in their safety schema. They experienced a sense of vulnerability and fear for their own safety and the safety of their children and partners. For female participants (the majority of participants) this sense of vulnerability and fear was exacerbated as they felt vulnerable to harm inflicted by others when they began to internalize their clients' experience of violence. They subsequently became more apprehensive about the safety of their children and partners whenever they engaged in activities away from home. Similarly, Astin (1997), a therapist and researcher working with rape victims in the United States, reports taking extra safety precautions in dealing with men as a result of her work. This sense of vulnerability to violence and harm among women in general, and trauma therapists in particular is associated with victimization and violence against women in our society (Sue & Sue, 1999).

In their discussion on caring for victims of political violence, Witterholt & Jaranson (1998) refer to personal impact and changes in their world-view. They find themselves

altering their lives in order to accommodate such changes. For example, they limited the type of books they read and movies they saw because of their growing sensitivity and inability to tolerate violence. Thus, trauma therapists who repeatedly face the reality of the existence of terrible acts happening to others may experience doubt about their previously adaptive assumptions of personal invulnerability and safety in every day life (Janoff-Bulman, 1992).

It may be observed that the impact of trauma therapy is different from the work of therapy with non-traumatized clients. Although most therapists occasionally hear disgusting and horrific stories from clients, trauma therapists are repeatedly exposed to such stories. Moreover, their world-view may be challenged repeatedly when facing realities of their clients' traumatic experience. Thus, the trauma therapists' beliefs about the world and others as "just" or "good" is defied by interpersonal traumas in which one person or group of persons inflicts pain and suffering on another person (Astin, 1997; McCann & Pearlman, 1990)

Spiritual-religious impact. With respect to spiritual-religious impact, participants' descriptions involved mixed emotions ranging from sadness and anger at God and at the dark side of humanity to a search for meaning and deep appreciation for life's blessings and human resiliency. Their sense of spirituality and religion was strengthened by working with traumatized clients as they strove to find a deeper meaning for pain and suffering in the world (Viktor, 1978). Participants' dual reaction with two contradictory emotions of despair and anger on the one hand, and appreciation of their own safety on the other is consistent with the spiritual transformation in VT (McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Saakvitne & Pearlman, 1996).

In sum, previous research and current findings indicate that the most important impact associated with the experience of VT involves a sense of terror and helplessness that is perceived to be beyond individuals' "normal" capacity to deal with. Participants in this study reported a sense of helplessness, a sense of anger at self, others, and the

world that allow such inhuman cruelties (cf. Figley, 1995). Therefore, the required exceptional coping strategies to prevent, ameliorate or manage the impacts of working with survivor clients. The use of a healthy balance to cope with the effect of VT on the personal and professional levels is the focus of the following section.

## Personal and Professional Coping Strategies

One of the most important aspects of coping with VT is to acknowledge the effects of trauma work on the therapists' psyche. Recognizing that one's vulnerability to intense emotional experiences is a "normal" response to "abnormal" events (trauma), coping with responses to clients' trauma is the next step in addressing VT (Figley, 1995; McCann & Pearlman, 1990; Stamm, 1995). The therapists' acknowledgment of the effects of working with survivors is essential in the development of effective strategies to cope with trauma work.

In her discussion of preventing secondary traumatic stress disorder, Janet Yassen (1995) emphasizes the importance of a holistic multidimensional approach that combines knowledge, wisdom and techniques at the personal and the professional levels.

Similarly, participants in this study described a holistic approach to coping including both problem- and emotion-focused strategies in order to cope with distressing thoughts and feelings. Participants' problem-focused strategies involved establishing boundaries, seeking instrumental support from colleagues and becoming involved in proactive behaviors (e.g., volunteering, becoming social activists). Emotion-focused strategies involved self-care and self-nurturing activities, seeking emotional support from family, friends, colleagues and pets, turning to religious and spiritual activities, and venting emotions. Thus, in their attempt to minimize the impact of VT, participants used a variety of coping strategies at both the personal and professional levels. These findings are consistent with studies in the United States which reveal that trauma therapists use both personal and professional strategies to overcome the effects of VT (Dutton & Rubinstien, 1995; Dyregrove & Michell, 1992; Pearlman, 1995).

### Problem-Focused Coping Strategies

According to Lazarus & Folkman (1984) people tend to use problem-focused approaches when they believe their resources and demands of the situation are changeable. This was consistent with participants description of a variety of direct actions that aimed at reducing the stressful demands of their work.

Establishing boundaries. Just as important as being empathic in the therapeutic relationships is the need to maintain boundaries. For participants, boundaries meant being aware of their own personal and professional motives, values, biases, resources and limitations. The strategies most often used by participants involved limiting the number of trauma clients seen in a day, alternating between seeing trauma and non-trauma clients, conveying respectfully the limitations of their helping roles, as well as compartmentalizing their personal emotions. Participants also described setting up boundaries within a framework of their personal and professional values/ethics as a very important step in moderating the effects of their work. Establishing boundaries early in their working relationship allowed both participants and clients to have clear guidelines about the limitations of the therapeutic relationship.

A balance between professional and personal life reported by participants is necessary in moderating the effects of VT on therapists: "Time is needed to nourish one's physical needs, personal needs, and professional needs. To maintain the boundaries necessary for good mental and physical health, therapists may have to prioritize their commitments, and even terminate some of them" (Cerney., 1995, P. 141). According to Cerney, being overworked and traumatized may traumatize family and friends through constant unavailability and emotional withdrawal. Indeed, Chestman (1995) found that coping behavior varies with the percentage of trauma clients in the caseload including talking to family and friends about work and attending professional activities. Those therapists with higher ratio of trauma clients talked less to family and friends and attended more professional conferences and activities. Further research with

survivor of torture clients may investigate the relationship between the caseload of participants and the tendency to use professional coping or personal coping (i.e., obtaining emotional support from colleagues or from family and friends).

Seeking instrumental support. Although well trained in counseling and psychotherapy, participants often felt overwhelmed and unprepared when dealing with culturally different survivor clients. Beyond understanding the individual clients, participants found they also needed to understand the larger sociopolitical and cultural relationships of the clients. Participants faced this challenge by actively researching multicultural literature and seeking professional advice from other more experienced colleagues. Seeking information and acquiring knowledge about the stressful situation, which can then be used in planning problem- or emotions-focused coping can be very helpful in managing stress.

Using proactive strategies. Listening to descriptions of the brutal victimization created various psychological reactions in participants, they felt anger and rage at perpetrators of atrocities and the political systems and experienced a great sense of despair and helplessness. However, participants' intense emotions also motivated them to develop a special compassion that grew and eventually turned into a positive quality in approach which can be called generativity (Barnett, 1984; Erikson, 1968). Participants' difficult experience cultivated their ability to understand other individuals at a deeper level and to have compassion for their difficulties. Their generativity involved moving beyond a focus on themselves to a broaden commitment to work, to society, and to future generations. Participants' creative transformation suggests that the same people can use negative experiences to learn and grow, transcending ugliness and pain to gain pleasure from helping.

It seems that participants developed a new awareness that helped them to deal with their sense of helplessness, hopelessness and frustration as they continued to provide guidance and emotional support to their clients. Through becoming advocates for human rights, they were using an active coping strategy that provided them with some means of control and a feeling that they could bring about some social justice and positive changes in clients' lives (Seligman, 1975). Participants' sense of empowerment was achieved by taking actions, becoming engaged in what they liked to do and holding on to hope and possibilities.

## **Emotion-Focused Coping Strategies**

People tend to use emotion-focused strategies when they perceive they can not change the stressful situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). These coping strategies, however, regulate psychological reactions to stressful situations until such a time that one can deal with the situation objectively. Participants in this study described a variety of behavioral and cognitive approaches that helped them regulate their affective reactions to VT. The most commonly reported strategies were self-care and self-nurturing activities, obtaining emotional support, becoming involved in religious and spiritual activities, focusing on emotions, positive reinterpretation and acceptance. The least reported coping strategy was mental disengagement.

Self-care and self-nurturing behavior. Coping activities such as self-care and self-nurturing provided participants with a sense of control. Personal control is considered an important factor in mediating the negative effects of stressful situations and a component of the hardy personality (Kobasa, 1984; Kobasa & Maddi & Kahns, 1982). According to Kobasa (1984), people who believe to have a greater sense of control, commitment, and challenge will cope more effectively when under stress. Participants' sense of control involved their advocacy efforts to influence outcomes instead of being passively influenced by them, while their sense of commitment motivated them to become actively involved in life problems (e.g., social justice issues) rather than feeling alienated. Finally, continuing to learn from positive and negative experiences helped participants to face the challenges of their works adaptively.

One of the most commonly reported coping strategy by participants was paying attention to signs of stress and taking time to nourish their bodies and minds through rest, play and eating well. For example, participants became engaged in physical and mental exercises during work breaks and after work. They sought peace by taking warm baths, writing poetry, doing gardening, meditating and collecting favorite objects.

Exercise and physical fitness can prevent the harmful effects of stress and provide a wide range of benefits from enhanced intellectual functioning and personal control to decreased anxiety, depression, hostility, and tension. However, these basic and essential activities are often neglected when we experience stress. Self-care issues, like many other ethical dilemmas are complex to deal with and a clear consensus on it is hard to reach. The principle of responsible caring of Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (Canadian Psychological Association, 1991) reminds therapists to become engaged in "self-care activities which help to avoid conditions (e.g., burnout, addictions) which could result in impaired judgment and interfere with their ability to benefit and not harm others" (II. 12, p. 96). Indeed, therapists, like other caregivers, have responsibility to their own physical and mental well-being so that they can continue using their therapeutic skills and creativity effectively.

Seeking emotional support. Obtaining empathy, caring, and concern in times of stress may provide a sense of comfort, reassurance, belongingness and love. Participants sought emotional comfort by turning to family members, friends, colleagues and pets when overwhelmed with conflicting thoughts and feelings. For most participants, being with their children was revitalizing and energizing. One participant summarized this point eloquently by saying that children are a source of life, and in their presence, dreams and hopes can be magically created and reborn again.

Focus on emotions and venting of emotions. Participants in this study viewed emotional responses as a "normal" human state conducive to their emotional growth. They felt comfortable to cry or laugh with the clients and within the established

boundaries. According to Pearlman & Saakvitne (1995), therapists' appropriate expression of emotion strengthens the therapeutic relationship since it validates clients feelings. We generally have feelings about significant experiences. Our emotions such as fear, anger, sadness and anxiety can stimulate our responses and direct our actions. How we express them may have a positive or negative effect on our general well-being. Feelings are a vital part of us and their suitable expression is the balance to sustain our physical, mental and spiritual wellness.

Emotional distancing. Participants described their needs for establishing emotional boundaries that could act as a comfort zone in protecting them from overwhelming thoughts, emotions and hurt. These boundaries, however, were flexible and did not hinder their ability for empathy. Emotional distancing like other types of boundaries allowed them to see themselves as unique human beings with their own feelings and needs.

The emotional demands of the helping relationship can be balanced out when we recognize that both closeness and distancing can help us deal with our intense reactions. When overwhelmed by intense emotions, participants' emotional distancing allowed them to appraise the problem objectively. Emotional distancing is also used to modulate the processing of traumatic events so that therapists would not be overwhelmed by the emotional consequences, and be able to overcome emotional flooding which may threaten their functional capacity (Dyregrov & Mitchell, 1992).

Religious and spiritual activities. Religious coping has been reported by many researchers to be helpful in managing people's experience of stress (Carver et al., 1989; Kliewer, 1999; McCrae & Costa, 1986). In a study, Pargament et al. (1988) suggested three styles of coping involving different relationships with God. In addition to placing the responsibility for the problem on God, the responsibility may be directed toward the individuals themselves or shared by them and God. In their attempt to make sense of the survivor clients' pain and sufferings, participants tended to put the responsibility on God

for clients' misery and horrors. Participants also attempted to make spirituality a part of their every day life in order to restore their sense of meaning, connection and hope (Neumann & Gamble, 1995; Sargent, 1989). For example, they became involved and resorted in activities such as meditation and reflection, creative art and spending time in nature in order to manage the effects of VT.

Participants' expression of anger and sadness as well as their search for meaning may reflect their sense of adaptation to the loss of their cherished beliefs, which is consistent with the stage model of loss and ways to seek resolution (Kubler-Ross, 1975).

Acceptance. A helpful coping strategy in managing VT is simply accepting that trauma work involves dealing with clients' pain and suffering. Moreover, realizing personal and professional limitations in dealing with client's issues. While describing their desire for helping clients, participants talked about the limits of their professional roles. Although difficult to admit, they acknowledged their lack of control over clients' pain and suffering. As one participant pointed out, coming to terms with the limits of our helping role and accepting its limits can help us view our work in a holistic way rather than as a one-sided endeavor. This coping approach was especially appropriate for participants since their works' basic circumstances and source of the stressors could not be changed or controlled (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Positive reinterpretation. Despite experiencing conflicting thoughts and emotions, participants focused on the positive aspects of their experience that became a source of growth and development. They reminded themselves that together (the clients and participants) they were now working in a safe and humane relationship where healing was possible. Helpers usually maintain a positive view about life's possibilities. Though they are aware of the dark side of life, they do not entirely focus on it. Obsession with what is terrible in life can only hinder one's ability to appreciate what is beautiful and good. However, solutions may become more reachable in the light of possibilities.

Participants' attempt to modulate a stressor by changing the meaning of the situation is another coping strategy. According to Lazarus & Folkman (1984) psychological stress occurs when we appraise a situation to be harmful or threatening. Using cognitive appraisal, it appears that participants evaluated the significance of the situation (stressor) as challenging rather than threatening or harmful.

In sum, although coping strategies used by participants are reported separately, they tend to function together as a system on the emotional, cognitive, behavioral, religious and spiritual levels. In general, participants used more than one strategy in dealing with the demands of their work. They tended to use both problem- and emotion-focused strategies together in order to alter the problem or regulate their emotional responses respectively when they experienced stress. Findings indicate that participants used a large number of emotion-focused coping strategies as compared to problem-focused strategies. The powerlessness experienced by the participants, which can be attributed to lack of political resources for intervention may explain the overwhelming predominance of emotion-focused over problem-focused strategies. The present analysis is congruent with suggestions that emotion-focused coping becomes predominant when people perceive that they can not control the situation (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

#### Coping at the Organizational Level

Findings of the present study indicate that there is almost an absence of organizational strategies aiming to provide participants with additional means of coping. All participants provided suggestions and recommendations at the organizational level. Their suggestions include workshops, conferences and training programs, working in a multidisciplinary environment, peer support, and social and professional support. Other researchers have suggested strategies for organizational coping such as reducing the workload, providing supervision and collegial support, and workshops. These strategies have been found to help reduce the PTSD symptoms experienced by trauma therapists (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995; Stamm, 1995). More work is needed to increase the

awareness of organizations of the needs of professionals for help when working with traumatized clients (Pearlman & Saakvitne, 1995).

Although participants indicated that therapists affected by VT may require professional help they tended to be reluctant to seek personal therapy for several reasons such as issues of stigmatization and concern about confidentiality (Mahoney, 1991; Neumann & Gamble, 1995). Organizational support may be vital and required in order to encourage therapists to seek help when required. Overall, it is encouraging that despite the limited organizational support, participants became engaged in coping strategies considered to be effective.

#### Limitations of the Study

Generalization of the findings in the present study is limited by the size of the sample and the individual characteristics of both participants and their clients. Data collected from 10 participants have limited the analysis of the findings and its generalization to all trauma therapists. This is particularly true because of the uniqueness of the clients who are both survivors of torture and culturally different. Moreover, participants did not exclusively work with traumatized clients. Nevertheless, there are similarities between the present findings and those of therapists dealing with other trauma survivors (Figley, 1995; Pearlman and McCann, 1995). Furthermore, despite the small number of participants, the present study may serve as a guide for future research in the area of VT with larger group of participants.

The study did not inquire about the years of work experience participants had with survivor of torture clients. Such information would have allowed the study to explore whether longer years of work experience helped participants to develop more effective case management skills and a larger repertoire of coping resources and strategies. On the other hand, the longer years of work experience may be associated with more cumulative effects of VT.

It is important to point out that participants in this study were not given any formal test to measure their level of stress, or their experience of VT. Therefore, the findings of this study must be interpreted and generalized with great caution. However, the detailed and in-depth descriptions of participants' psychological reactions when working with survivor of torture clients are consistent with those reported in the literature.

Participants' reports of various symptoms are consistent with those established for a DMS-IV diagnosis of PTSD. While the intention of this study was not to diagnose pathology, participants' reports of distressing experiences indicate the nature of distress that can accompany trauma therapy.

#### Directions for Future Research

Because of the exploratory and pioneering nature of studies in the area of VT, more research is needed on the effects of VT and the strategies used to combat such effects. We still have very little information about factors involved in the relative effects of trauma therapy on therapists. Similarly, we need information about factors that can hinder or facilitate the coping process. For example, characteristics of the individual, social support, religious beliefs, learned coping skills and organizational structures may contribute to or prevent the development of VT.

One major area of future research is individual differences in reaction to VT and coping with its effects. Differences in personality, gender, training and previous professional experience may be contributory factors. For example, we need to know about gender differences in both the manifestation of VT and the methods used to cope with it. One question is whether there are gender differences in the manifestation of cognitive, affective, somatic, and subjective symptoms in reaction to VT. Do women experience more negative responses related to safety issues? Other questions are related to gender differences in the use of different kinds of coping strategies and whether the reactions of women and men are consistent with gender role stereotypes. Do women use more emotion-focused strategies as compared to men?

Other needed research is related to the effects of VT on therapists in both their personal and professional roles. For example, in what ways does VT adversely impact social and family relations as well as professional efficiency? Similarly, we still know very little about factors involved in the degree of effectiveness of coping strategies. Professionals seem to select their own coping strategies, and it is important to investigate how effective these strategies are. Factors such as the intensity, frequency and duration of stress experienced in working with trauma survivors, self-perceived ability to cope with that stress and self-perceived helpfulness with clients may affect how therapists perceive themselves as coping successfully (Medeiros & Prochaska, 1988).

There is also a need for the investigation of methods of intervention used to deal with VT. It is now accepted that since VT symptoms are similar to those of clients, the same methods of intervention (e.g., therapy) can be used for both therapists and clients. However, the efficacy of these methods in treating therapists may yet to be empirically validated. More research is also needed to assess the degree of resistance of professionals against personal therapy and the factors associated with it.

Finally, researchers investigating the impact of VT on therapists may also be at risk of becoming vulnerable to experience symptoms similar to those reported by therapists. Researchers' intense and prolonged engagement with the literature on VT and their contact with research participants during research may have a significant effect on their psyche. Questions may be raised whether researchers experience VT, and if they do, it is important to explore how they cope with its impact. Therefore, a new area of research on VT may focus on researchers and their experience of VT.

In sum, I hope that the present study will be replicated in Canadian and international settings so that data could be compared and contrasted to provide a more complete understanding of the experiences of therapists who work with survivors of torture.

#### General Conclusion

A study by Pearlman & Mac Ian (1995) of trauma therapists and the present research suggest that there is an urgent need for more training in trauma therapy as well as more supervision and support for trauma therapists. In particular, it is essential that therapists who work with refugees who are survivors of torture are trained and prepared to provide culturally sensitive mental health care for this diverse population. While most therapist do not speak the language of many culturally diverse clients, efforts need to be made to understand their sociopolitical culture and their mental health care practices (Sue & Sue, 1990, 1999).

As a researcher and future therapist, I believe that we need to learn more about the impact of trauma work on our general well-being. This dissertation clearly shows that we know enough to acknowledge that burnout and VT are an occupational hazard for therapists. Therefore, educational agencies, teaching supervisors as well as therapists themselves have a moral-ethical responsibility to incorporate occupational hazard topic related to VT into students' curriculum. These topics can also be incorporated into supervision and practicum for preparing future therapists to deal with survivors of trauma more effectively. Moreover, organizations can provide workshops and support programs in order to develop practitioners' competency.

In sum, this study contributes to our understanding of therapists' experiential meaning of VT. The study identified a variety of factors including work aspects and personality characteristics that can contribute to experience of VT. Moreover, it explored and discussed the kind of coping strategies that can help in managing the effects of VT. Furthermore, one significant finding of the study was exploring the positive aspects of work with survivors of trauma. These positive aspects appear to make the trauma work more tolerable and may have acted as a buffering system against stressors. Although participants showed a variety of symptoms, the effects were generally not severe enough to hinder their personal and occupational functioning.

It is interesting to note that most participants pointed out how the interview had positive effects for them. It provided them with the opportunity to gain a more meaningful insight about the impact of their work on both personal and professional levels.

Although this study focused on therapists working with refugees who are survivors of torture, the findings have implications for other workers with trauma survivors. This study suggests that helpers be encouraged to acknowledge and deal with the effects of their work and that organizational strategies be developed for managing VT.

#### References

Allodi, F. (1990). Refugees as victims of torture and trauma. In W. H. Holtzman & T. H. Bornemann, (Eds.), Mental health of immigrants and refugees (pp. 245-252).

Austin, Texas: Hogg Foundation for Mental Health.

Alpert, J. L., & Paulson, A. (1990). Graduate-level education and training in child sexual abuse. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, 21, 366-371.

American Psychiatric Association. (1994). <u>Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders</u> (4th ed.). Washington, D. C.: Author.

American Psychiatric Association. (1980). <u>Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders</u> (3rd ed.). Washington, D. C.: Author.

Amnesty International. (1985). Declaration of Tokyo, World Medical Association. In, Ethical codes and declarations relevant to the health professions (2nd ed.) (pp. 9-10). London: Amnesty International Secretariat.

Anderson, J. R. (1992). Problem solving and learning. <u>American Psychologist</u>, 48, 35-44.

Arthur, N. (1998). Gender differences in the stress and coping experiences of first year post-secondary students. Journal of College Student Psychotherapy, 12(4), 21-36.

Arthur, N., & Hiebert, B. (1996). Coping with the transition to post-secondary education. Canadian Journal of Counseling, 30(2), 91-103.

Arthur, N., & Ramaliu, A. (in press). Crisis Intervention with survivors of torture.

Crisis Intervention and Time Limited Treatment.

Arvay, M. J. & Uhlemann, M. R. (1996). Counselor stress in the field of trauma: A preliminary study. Canadian Journal of Counseling, 30(3), 193-210.

Astin, M. C. (1997). Traumatic therapy: How helping rape victims affect me as a therapist. Women & Therapy, 20(1), 101-109.

Attig, T. (1990). Relearning the world: On the phenomenology of grieving. <u>Journal</u> of the British Society for Phenomenology, 21, 53-66.

Auerbach, S. M. (1989). Stress management and coping research in the health care setting: An overview and methodological commentary. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 57, 388-359.

Bandura, A. (1989). Self-regulation of motivation and action through internal standards and goal systems. In L. A. Pervin (Ed.), Good concepts in personality and social psychology (pp. 19-85). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Barnett, S. K. (1984). The mentor role: A task of generativity. <u>Journal of Human</u> Behavior and Learning (1), 15-18.

Basoglu, M. (Ed.). (1992). <u>Torture and its consequences: Current treatment approaches</u>. Great Britain: Cambridge University Press.

Baum, A., Cohen, L., & Hall, M. (1993). Control and intrusive memories as possible determinants of chronic stress. <u>Psychosomatic Medicine</u>, 55, 274-286.

Baumeister, R. F. (1989). The optimal margin of illusion. <u>Journal of social and</u> <u>Clinical Psychology</u>, 8, 176-189.

Bemak, F. & Greenberg, B. (1994). Southeast Asian refugee adolescents: Implications for counseling. <u>Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development</u>, 22(4), 115-124.

Bemak, F., Chung, R. C., & Bornemann, T. H. (1996). Counseling and psychotherapy with refugees. In P. B. Pedersen, J, G. Draguns, W. J., Lonner., & J. E. Trimble (Eds.), Counseling Across Cultures (4th ed.), (pp. 243-264). Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publication Inc.

Berg, B. L. (1998). Qualitative research methods for the social sciences (3rd ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allen & Bacon.

Billing, A. G. & Moose, R. H. (1984). Coping, stress, and social resources among adults with unipolare depression. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 46, 887-891.

Blair, T., & Ramones, V. (1996). Understanding vicarious traumatization. <u>Journal</u> of Psychosocial Nursing, 34(11), 24-30.

Boehnlein, J. K., Kinzie, J. D., & Leung, P. K. (1998) Countertransference ethical principles for treatment of torture survivors. In James, M. Jaranson & Michael, K. Poking (Eds.) Caring for victims of torture (pp. 173-183). Washington, D. C.:

American Psychiatric Press Inc.

Bojholm, S. & Vesti, P. (1992). Multidisciplinary approach in the treatment of torture survivors. In M. Basoglu (Ed.), <u>Torture and its consequences: Current treatment approaches</u> (pp. 299-309). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Bolger, N. (1990). Coping as a personality process: A prospective study. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 59, 525-537.

Brown, J. D. (1991). Staying fit and staying well: Physical fitness as a moderator of life stress. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 6, 555-561.

Brown, J. D., & Siegel, J. M., (1988). Attributions for negative life events and depression: The role of perceived control. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>. 54, 316-322.

Canadian Psychological Association (1991). <u>Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists</u>. Old Chelsea, Quebec: Author.

Carey, M. P., Kalra, D. L., Carey, K. B., Halperin, S., & Richards, C. S. (1993). Stress and unaided smoking cessation: A prospective investigation. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 61, 831-838.

Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1994). Situational coping and coping disposition in a stressful transaction. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 66(1), 184-195.

Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 56 (2), 267-283.

Catherall, D. R. & Lane, C. (1990). Warrior therapist: Vets treating vets. <u>Journal of Traumatic Stress</u>. 5(1), 19-36.

Cerney, M. S. (1995). Treating the heroic treaters. In C. R. Figley, (Ed.),

Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat
the traumatized (pp. 131-150). New York: Brunner/Mazel.

Cherniss, C. (1995). <u>Beyond burnout: Helping teachers, nurses, therapists and lawyers recover from stress and disillusionment</u>. New York: Routledge.

Chester, B. & Jaranson, J. (1994). The context of survival and destruction:

Conducting psychotherapy with survivors of torture. Clinical Quarterly, 4, 17-20.

Chestman, K. R. (1995). Secondary exposure to trauma and self-reported distress among therapists. In B. H. (Ed.), <u>Secondary traumatic stress</u>: <u>Self-care issues for clinicians, researchers, and educators</u> (pp. 29-36). Lutherville: Sidran Press.

Coffey, A. & Atkinson, P. (1996). Making sense of qualitative data:

Complementary research strategies. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Cohen, F. & Lazarus, R. S. (1983). Coping and adaptation in health and illness. In D. Mechanic (Ed.), <u>Handbook of health, health care, and the health professions</u>. New York: Free Press.

Cormier, S. & Cormier, B. (1998). <u>Interviewing strategies for helpers: Fundamental skills and cognitive behavioral interventions (4th ed.</u>). U.S.A: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.

Costa, P. T., Jr. & McCrae, R. R. (1989). Personality, stress, and coping: Some lessons from a decade of research. In K. S. Markides & C. L. Cooper (Eds.), Aging. stress, social support, and health, New York: Wiley.

Costa, P. T., Somerfield, M. R., & McCrae, R. R., (1996). Personality and Coping:

A Reconceptualization. In M. Zeidner & N. S., Endler (Eds.), <u>Handbook of Coping</u>:

Theory, research, application (pp. 44-61). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Creswell, J. W. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions. USA: Sage Publications.

Danieli, Y. (1988). Confronting the unimaginable: Psychotherapists' reactions to victims of the Nazi holocaust. In J. P. Wilson, Z. Harel, & B. Kahana (Eds.), Human adaptation to extreme stress (pp. 219-237). New York: Plenum Press.

Danieli, Y. (1994). Countertransference, trauma and training. In J. P. Wilson, & J. D. Lindy (Eds.). Countertrasference in the treatment of PTSD (pp. 368-388). New York: Guilfor.

Dubbert, P. (1992). Exercise in behavioral medicine. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 60, 613-618.

Dutton, M. A., & Rubinstein, F. L. (1995). Working with people with PTSD: Research implication. In C. R. Figley, (Ed.), Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized (pp. 82-114). New York: Brunner/Mazel.

Dyregrov, A. & Michell, J. T. (1992). Work with traumatized children:

Psychological effects and coping strategies. Journal of Traumatic Stress. 5, 5-19.

Eisenberg, N. & Fabes, R. A. (1991). prosocial behavior and empathy: A multimethod developmental perspective. In M. S. Clark (Ed.), <u>Prosocial behavior</u> (pp. 34-61). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Eisner, E. (1991). The enlightened eye. New York: Macmillan.

Ellis, A. (1987). The impossibility of achieving consistently good mental health. American Psychologist, 2, 364-375.

Ellis, A. (1993). Reflections on rational-emotive therapy. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 61, 199-201.

Epstein, S. P. (1990). Cognitive-experiential self theory. In L. A. Pervin (Ed.), Handbook of personality: Theory and research. New York: Guilford Press. Erikson, E. (1968). Identity: Youth an crisis. New York: W. W. Norton.

- Figley, C. R. (1985). <u>Trauma and its wake: The study and treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder (vol I)</u>. New York: Brunner/Mazel Publishers.
- Figley, C. R. (1988). Toward a field of traumatic stress. <u>Journal of Traumatic</u> Stress, 1(1), 3-16.
- Figley, C. R. (Ed.) (1995). <u>Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic</u> stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized. New York: Brunner/Mazel.
- Figley, C. R. & Kleber, (1995). Beyond the victim: Secondary traumatic stress. In R. J., Kleber, C. R., Figley, & B. P. R., Gersons, (Eds.), Beyond trauma: Cultural and societal dynamics (pp. 75-98). NY Plenum Press.
- Freud, S. (1933). <u>New Introductory lectures on psychoanalysis</u>. New York: Norton.
- Freudenberger, H. J. (1990). Hazards of psychotherapeutic practice. <u>Psychotherapy</u> in <u>Private Practice</u>, 8, 31-35.
- Freudenberger, H. J., & Richelson, G. (1980). <u>Burnout: The high cost of achievement</u>. Garden City, New York: Doubleday.
- Gama, E. M. P. (1992). Toward science-practice integration: Qualitative research in counseling psychology. Counseling and Human Development, 25 (2), 1-12.
- Geer, J., & Maisel, E. (1973). Evaluating the effects of the prediction-control confound. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 23, 314-319.
- Gelderloos, P., Walton, K. G., Orme-Johston, D. W., & Alexander, C. N. (1991). Effectiveness of the Transcendental Meditation program in preventing and treating substance misuse: A review. The International Journal of Addiction, 26(3), 293-325.
- Hiebert, B. (1988). Controlling stress: A conceptual update. Canadian Journal of Counseling, 22(4), 226-241.
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. American Psychologist, 44, 513-524.

Hobfoll, S. E., Freedy, J. R., Green, B. L., & Solomon, S. D. (1996). In M. Zeidner & N. S., Endler (Eds.), Handbook of Coping: Theory, research, application (pp. 322-349). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Hobfoll, S. E., & Leiberman, J. R. (1987). Personality and social resources in immediate and continued stress resistance among women. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 52, 18-26.

Holmes, t. H., & Rahe, R. H. (1967). The social readjustment rating scale. <u>Journal of Psychosomatic Research</u>, 11, 213-218.

Holtzman, W. H. & Bornemann, T. H. (Eds.) (1990). Mental health of immigrants and refugees. Austin, Texas: Hogg Foundation for Mental Health.

Janoff-Bullman, R. (1992). Shattered Assumptions: Towards a new psychology of trauma. New York: The Free press.

Jaranson, J. M. (1995). Government-sanctioned torture: Status of the rehabilitation movement. Transcultural Psychiatric Research Review. 32, 253-286.

Jaranson, J. M., & Popkin, M. K. (Eds.) (1998). Caring for victims of torture. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, Inc.

Kahill, S. (1986). Relationship of burnout among professional psychologists to professional expectations and social support. <u>Psychological Reports</u>, 59, 1043-1051.

Kahill, S. (1988). Intervention for burnout in the helping profession: A review of the empirical evidence. <u>Canadian Journal of Counseling</u>, 22(3), 162-169.

Kassam-Adams, N. (1995). The risks of treating sexual trauma: Stress and secondary trauma in psychotherapists. In B. H. Stamm (Ed.), Secondary traumatic stress: Self-care issues for clinicians, researchers, and educators (pp. 37-46). Lutherville: Sidran Press.

Kinzie, J. D, & Boehnlein, J. K. (1993). Psychotherapy of the victims of massive violence: Countertransference and ethical issues. <u>American Journal of Psychotherapy</u>. 47(1), 90-102.

Kinzie, J. D, & Fleck, J. (1987). Psychotherapy with severely traumatized refugees.

American Journal of Psychotherapy, XLI (1), 82-94.

Kliewer, W. (1999). Coping. In D. G. Benner, & P. C. Hill (Eds.). <u>Baker</u> encyclopedia of psychology and counseling (2nd ed.), pp. 271-272. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books.

Kluft, R. P. (1989). The rehabilitation of therapists overwhelmed by their work with M.P. D. patients. <u>Dissociation</u>, 2(4), 243-249.

Kobasa, S. C. O. (1984). How much stress can you survive? American Health, 3, 64-77.

Kobasa, S. C. O., Maddi, S. R. & Kahn S. (1982). Hardiness and health: A prospective study. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 42, 168-177.

Krohne, H. W. (1996). Individual Differences in Coping. In M. Zeidner & N. S., Endler (Eds.), Handbook of Coping: Theory, research, application (pp. 381-409). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Kubler-Ross, E. (1975). <u>Death the final stage of growth</u>. New jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Kvale, S. (1996). <u>Interviews: An introduction to qualitative research interviewing</u>. USA: Sage Publications.

Lather, P. (1993). Fertile obsession: Validity after poststructuralism. <u>Sociological</u> Quarterly, 34, 673-693.

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). <u>Emotion and adaptation</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.

Lazarus, R. S. (1993). Why we should think of stress as a subset of emotion. In L. Goldberger & Breznitz (Eds.), <u>Handbook of stress</u>: <u>Theoretical and clinical aspects</u> (2nd ed., pp. 21-39). New York: Fress Press.

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer.

Lefley, H. P. (1989). Counseling refugees: The North American experience. In P. B., Pedersen, J. G., Draguns, W. J., Lonner, & J. E., Trimble (Eds.), Counseling across cultures (pp. 243-66). Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.

Lepore, S. J. & Evans, G. W. (1996). Coping with Multiple Stressors in the Environment. In M. Zeidner & N. S., Endler (Eds.), Handbook of Coping: Theory. research, application (pp. 350-377). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Levy, S. M., & Heiden, I., (1991). Depression, distress and immunity: Risk factors for infectious disease. <u>Stress Medicine</u>, 7, 45-51.

Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). <u>Naturalistic inquiry</u>. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage. Mahoney, M. J. (1991). Human change processes: <u>The scientific foundations of psychotherapy</u>. New York: Basic.

Marlett, N. J. (1998). Partnership research in health promotion. In W. E. Thurston, J. D. Sieppert, & V. J. Wiebe (Eds.), <u>Doing health promotion research: The science of action</u>, (pp. 223-243). Calgary: Health Promotion Research Group, University of Calgary.

Marsella, A. J., Friedman, M. J. & Spain, E. H. (1990). Ethnocultural aspects of post-traumatic stress disorder. In J. M. Oldham, M. B. Riba & A. Tasman (Eds.), Review of Psychiatry, 12 (pp. 157-181). Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Press.

Maslach, C. (1982). <u>Burnout the cost of caring</u>. New York: Prentice Hall Press. Maslach, C. (1985). Role of sex and family variables in burnout. <u>Sex Roles, 12</u>, 837-851.

McCann, L. & Pearlman L. A. (1990). Vicarious traumatization: A framework for understanding the psychological effects of working with victims. <u>Journal of Traumatic</u> <u>Stress</u>, 3(1), 131-149.

McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T., Jr. (1986). Personality, coping, and coping effectiveness in an adult sample. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 54, 385-405.

Medeiros, M. E. & Prochaska, J. O. (1988). Coping strategies that psychotherapists use in working with stressful clients. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 1</u>, 105-114.

Meichenbaum, D. (1994). <u>A clinical handbook/practical therapist manual:</u> For assessing and treating adults with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). (pp. 1-21). Waterloo, Ontario. Institute Press.

Miller, k. I., Stiff, J. B., & Ellis, B. H. (1988). Communication Monographs, 55(3), 250-265.

Moose, R. H., Finney, J. W., & Cronkite, R. C. (1990). <u>Alcoholism treatment:</u>

<u>Context, process and outcome</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.

Moos, R. H., & Schaefer, J. A. (1986). Life transitions and crises: A conceptual overview. In R. H. Moos (Ed.), Coping with life crises: An integrated approach. New York: Plenum.

Moustakas, C. (1990). <u>Heuristic research: Design, methodology, and applications</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Moustakas, C. (1994). <u>Phenomenological research methods</u>. USA: Sage Publications.

Neumann, D., Gamble, S. J. (1995). Issues in The professional development of psychotherapists: Countertransference and vicarious traumatization in the new trauma therapist. <u>Psychotherapy</u>, 32(2), 341-347.

Osborn, J. W. (1994). Some similarities and differences among phenomenological and other methods of psychological qualitative research. Canadian Psychology, 35(2), 167-189.

Pargament, K. I, Kennell, J., Hathaway, W., Grevengoed, N., Newman, J., Jones, W. (1988). Religion and the problem-solving process: Three styles of coping. Journal of the Scientific Study of Religion, 27, 90-104.

Pearlman, L. A. (1995). Self-care for trauma therapist: Ameliorating vicarious traumatization. In B. H. Stamm (Ed.), Secondary traumatic stress: Self-care issues for clinicians, researchers, and educators (pp. 51-64). Lutherville: Sidran Press.

Pearlman, L. A., & Mac Ian P. S. (1995). Vicarious traumatization: An empirical study of the effects of trauma work on trauma therapists. <u>Professional Psychology:</u>

Research and Practice, 26(6), 558-565.

Pearlman, L. A., & Saakvitne, K. W. (1995). <u>Trauma and the therapist:</u>

Countertransference and vicarious traumatization in psychotherapy with incest survivors.

N.Y: W. W. Norton.

Pennebaker, J. W. (1990). Opening up: <u>The healing power of confiding in others</u>. New York: William Morrow.

Pines, A. M. (1993). Burnout. In L. Goldberger & S. Breznitz (Eds.), <u>Handbook of stress: theoretical and clinical aspects</u> (2nd ed., pp. 386-402). New York: Free Press.

Pope, K. S., & Feldman-Summers, S. (1992). National survey of psychologists' sexual and physical abuse history and their evaluation of training and competence in these areas. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, 23, 353-361.

Ptacek, J. T., Smith, R. E., & Zanas, J. (1992). Gender, appraisal and coping: A longitudinal analysis. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 60, 747-770.

Rice, P. L. (1992). Stress and Health (2nd ed.). U.S.A: Brooks/Cole Pulishing Company.

Richardson, L. (1990). <u>Writing strategies: Reaching diverse audiences</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Rogers, C. R. (1951). Client-centered therapy. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Rogers, C. R. (1980). A way of being. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Ross, R. R., & Altmaier, E. M. (1994). <u>Intervention in occupational stress</u>. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Saakvitne, K. W. & Pearlman, L. A. (1996). Transforming the pain: A workbook on vicarious traumatization. New York: W. W. Norton & Company.

Sanderson, W. C., Rapee, R. M., & Barlow, D. H. (1989). The influence of an illusion of control on panic attacks induced via inhalation of 5.5 carbon dioxide enriched air. <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 46, 157-162.

Sargent, N. M. (1989). Spirituality and adult survivors of child sexual abuse: Some treatment issues. In S. M. Sgroi, (Ed.), <u>Vulnerable populations</u>, <u>Vol 2</u>. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.

Schauben L. J., & Frazier, P. A. (1995). Vicarious trauma: The effects on female counselors of working with sexual violence survivors. <u>Psychology of Women Quarterly</u>. 19, 49-64.

Seligman, M. E. P. (1975). Helplessness. San Francisco: Freeman.

Selye, H. (1976). The stress of life. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Stamm, B. H. (Ed.) (1995). <u>Secondary traumatic stress: Self-care issues for clinicians and researchers, and educators</u>. Lutherville, Maryland: Sidran Press.

Sue, D. W. & Sue, D. (1990). Counseling the culturally different: Theory and practice (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Sue, D. W. & Sue, D. (1999). <u>Counseling the culturally different: Theory and practice</u> (3rd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Supply and Service Canada (1988). After the door has opened: Mental health issues affection immigrants and refugees in Canada: Report of the Canadian Task Force on Mental Health Issues Affecting Immigrant Refugees in Canada. Ottawa: Health and Welfare Canada.

Sutherland, V. J. & Cooper, C. L. (1990). <u>Understanding stress: A psychological</u> perspective for health professionals. London: Chapman & Hall.

Sutker, P. B., Davis, M. J., Uddo, M., & Ditta, S. R. (1995). War zone stress, personal resources, and PTSD in Persian Gulf War returnees. <u>Journal of Abnormal Psychology</u>, 104, 444-452.

Taylor, S. E. (1983). Adjustment to threatening events: A theory of cognitive adaptation. <u>American Psychologist</u> 38, 1161-1173.

Taylor, S. E. (1989). <u>Positive illusions: Creative self-deception and the healthy</u> mind. New York: Basic Books.

Taylor, S. E. (1995). Health Psychology (3rd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Taylor, S. E., & Aspinwall, L. G. (1996). Mediating processes in pschosocial stress: Appraisal, coping, resistance, and vulnerability. In H. B. Kaplan (Ed.), <u>Perspectives on Psychosocial Stress</u>. New York: Academic Press.

Thompson, S. C., Sobolow-Shubin, A., Galbraith, M. E., Schwankovksy, L., & Cruzen, D. (1993). Maintaining perceptions of control: Finding perceived control in low control circumstances. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 64, 293-304.

Vaillant, G. E. (1994). Ego mechanisms of defense and personality psychology. <u>Journal of Abnormal Psychology</u>, 103, 44-50.

Van Velsen, C., Gorst-Unsworth, C. & Turner, S. (1996). Survivors of torture and organized violence: Demography and diagnosis. <u>Journal of Traumatic Stress</u>, 9(2), 181-193.

Van Wagoner, S., Gelso, C., J., Hayes J. A., & Diemer, R. A., (1991).

Psychotherapy, 28(3), 411-421.

Ver Ellen, P. & Van Kammen, D. P. (1990). The biological findings in post-traumatic stress disorder: A review. <u>Journal of Applied Social Psychology</u>, 20, 1789-1821.

Vesti, P, & Kastrup, M. (1994). Treatment of torture survivors: Psychosocial and somatic aspects. In J. R. Freedy & S. E. Hobfoll (Eds.), <u>Traumatic stress: From theory to practice.</u> New York: Plenum.

Viktor, E. F. (1978). The unheard cry for meaning: Psychotherapy & Humanism.

New York: Simon & Schuster.

Westermeyer, J. (1986). Migration & psychopathology. In C. Williams & J. Westermeyer (Eds.), Refugee mental health issues in resettlement countries (pp. 39-59). N.Y: Hemisphere.

Westermeyer, J. (1989). Cross-cultural care for PTSD: Research, training & service needs for the future. <u>Journal of Traumatic Stress</u>, 2(4), 515-536.

Wiedenfeld, S., O'Leary, A., Bandura, A., Brown, S., Levine, S., & Raska, K. (1990). Impact of perceived self-efficacy in coping with stressors on components of the immune system. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 59, 1082-1094.

Williams, C. L. & Berry, J. W. (1991). Primary prevention of acculturative stress among refugees. <u>American Psychologist</u>, 46, 632-641.

Wilson, J. P. & Lindy, J. (Eds.). (1994). Countertransference in the treatment of PTSD. New York: Guilford Press.

Witterholt, S. & Jaranson, J. M. (1998). Caring for victims on site: Bosnian refugees in Croatia. In James, M. Jaranson & Michael, K. Popkin (Eds.), Caring for Victims of Torture, (pp. 243-252). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, Inc.

Wolcott, H. F. (1994). <u>Transforming qualitative data: Description, analysis, and interpretation</u>. Thousand Oaks, CS: Sage.

World Health Organization. (1996). <u>Mental health of refugees</u>. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

Yassen, J. (1995). Preventing secondary traumatic stress disorder. In C. R. Figley, (Ed.), Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized, (pp. 178-208). New York: Brunner/Mazel.

Young, M. Y. (1997). Baring witness to the unspeakable. Women & Therapy. 20(1), 23-25.

Zeidner, M., & Endler, N. S. (Eds.). (1996). <u>Handbook of coping: Theory, research.</u> applications. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Zeidner, M., & Saklofske, D. (1996). Adaptive and maladaptive coping. In M. Zeidner & N. S. Endler (Eds.). Handbook of coping: Theory, research, applications, (pp. 505-531). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.



### Dear Host Volunteer/Community Professional,

I am writing to provide information regarding a research project, entitled, *Providers of Support to Survivors of Torture*. This project is intended to develop a better understanding of the experiences and needs of people who provide support to survivors of torture. Host volunteers and community professionals are being contacted to inform them about the research project and to ask their participation. I am the main researcher for the project and am contacting you with the approval of Calgary Catholic Immigration Society In our efforts to provide services to refugees who have survived organized violence, we are attempting to expand a training program for volunteers and community-based professionals. This research project is focused on the experiences of people who work with survivors of torture in order to better understand the ways in which future training programs can be developed.

This letter is a request for your participation in the study. This involves meeting with me and a research assistant for up to 3 interviews regarding your experiences in working with survivors of torture. The interviews will take approximately 1 hour each. You should be aware that participation in the research project is strictly voluntary, and you are free to withdraw at any time for any reason.

The interviews will be audiotaped and transcribed into written form. As soon as the tapes are transcribed, they will be destroyed through erasing the information. Your name will not be placed on the transcribed forms, only a number to identify the interview. The tapes and transcribed forms will be kept in a locked filing cabinet at The University of Calgary only accessible to myself and two research assistants that I supervise. Although Calgary Catholic Immigration Society has provided your name as a possible participant, the agency does not receive a copy of the interview information. All information collected will be destroyed by shredding two years after completion of the study. No members of the community will have access to the tapes or transcribed documents and no identifying information would be reported in any published studies.

Participation in this study involves discussing your reactions and experiences of working with survivors of torture. This reflection process may result in thinking about your experiences in ways that you might not ordinarily experience in daily life

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 220-6756, the Office of the Chair, Faculty of Joint Education Ethics Committee at 220-5626, or the Office of the Vice-President (Research) at 220-3381. Two copies of the consent form are provided Please return one signed copy to me and retain the other copy for your records.

Your participation in the study is greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,

May Colling

Nancy Arthur, Ph.D., C.Psych

Assistant Professor

### Appendix B

# Interview protocol for providers of support to survivors of torture

- 1. Discuss your interest in working with survivors of torture.
- 2. Describe what is rewarding to you about working with survivors of torture.
- 3. Describe your reaction of being affected by the survivor's experience of trauma.
- 4. How has your reaction impacted your relationship with survivors of torture?
- 5. How has your reaction impacted any other area of your life?
- 6. What have you found to be helpful coping strategies for working through difficult reactions that you experience in working with survivors of torture?
- 7. What are the needs of community professionals/host volunteers who provide support to survivors of torture?
- 8. Describe how you would like to be supported in your work with survivors of torture.
- 9. What recommendations do you have for a program to provide support for professionals/host volunteers who work with survivors of torture?
- 10. What else would you like to add about your experience, insights, or expertise in working with survivors of torture?

#### Appendix C



#### DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

# CONSENT FOR PARTICIPATION IN THE RESEARCH PROJECT PROVIDERS OF SUPPORT TO SURVIVORS OF TORTURE

I, the undersigned, hereby give my consent to participate in a research project entitled Providers of Support to Survivors of Torture. I understand that such consent means that I will participate in up to three interviews during the next year, including audio-taping of the interviews.

I understand that participation in this study may be terminated at any time by my request, or of the investigators. I understand the participation in the study requires discussing experiences working with survivors of torture, which I might not otherwise reflect upon in the course of daily life.

I understand that the responses will be obtained anonymously and kept in strict confidence, that audiotapes will only be kept until they are transcribed, and that my name or other identifying information will not be entered on the transcribed material. No identifying information will be reported in any published reports.

I understand that all raw data will be kept in locked file cabinets and destroyed two years after publication of study results.

I have been given a copy of this consent form from my records. I understand that if at any time and have questions, I can contact the researcher at 220-6756, the Office of the Chair, Faculty of Education Joint Ethics Committee, at 220-5626, of the Office of the Vice-President at 220-3381.

Signature	of	Participant
Date		

# Appendix D

# **DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SHEET**

Your participation in completing this survey is appreciated. All information will be treated as anonymous to protect individual identification.

Professiona	l specialization (e.g. so	cial w	ork, psychologist, educator):	
Work settin	g:			
	community agency		private practice	
	hospital setting		educational setting	
	public clinic		(other - specify)	
Number of	years in professional pra	actice:		
Number of	survivor of torture clien	ts you	have worked with? Between.	
	1 - 5		5 – 10	
	10-15		15 – 20	
	20 – 25		25 – 30	
	30 – 35		35 – 40	
	40 and over			
Age				
Sex:	F M			
Country of (This will be r		public d	locument in order to protect individua	
Number of years living in Canada?				